# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

Between



And



October 1, 2021 - September 30, 2024

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE	1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT	
1.01	PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE	2 - RESERVATION TO MANAGEMENT	
2.01	RESERVATION TO MANAGEMENT	
2.02	NOT DISCRIMINATORY	]
ARTICLE	3 - EMPLOYEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES	
3.01	EMPLOYEES' RESPONSIBILITIES	1
3.02	DOCUMENTATION	2
ARTICLE	4 - RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATION	2
4.01	THE EMPLOYER	
4.02	BARGAINING UNIT	
4.03	SHOP STEWARD RECOGNITION	
4.04	NO OTHER AGREEMENTS	
4.05	No Contracting Out	2
4.06	WORK PERFORMED BY MANAGEMENT	3
4.07	RIGHT OF FAIR REPRESENTATION	3
4.08	SOLE BARGAINING AGENT	3
ADTICI E		
	5 - HUMAN RIGHTS	
5.01	No Discrimination	3
5.02	AFFIRMATIVE ACTION	4
5.03	No Barrier to Affirmative Action	4
5.04	OTHER LEGISLATION	4
5.05 5.06	PERSONAL RIGHTS	5
5.07	HARASSMENT	5
5.08	RIGHT TO AN ENVIRONMENT FREE FROM HARASSMENT	6
5.09	SEXUAL HARASSMENT - DEFINED	6
5.10	HARASSMENT - STRICT CONFIDENCE	/
5.11	HARASSMENT - BIGHT TO DISCONTINUE CONTACT	/
5.12	HARASSMENT - TRANSFER OF OFFENDER ONLY	/
5.13	HARASSMENT - DISCIPLINE OF ANY PERSON	/
5.14	HARASSMENT - RIGHTS NOT NEGATED	7
5.15	ACCOMMODATIONS	7
WENT - CASE 1	6 - UNION SECURITY	
6.01 6.02	ALL EMPLOYEES TO BE MEMBERS	
	Union Dues Check-Off	8
6.03	No Strike or Lockout	.8
6.05	POTENTIAL EMPLOYEES	.9
6.06	INTERVIEWING OPPORTUNITY	.9
6.07	CORRESPONDENCE	.9
6.08	Union Label	
6.09	LEAVE OF ABSENCE TO ATTEND UNION FUNCTIONS	.9
6.10	LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR FULL-TIME UNION OR PUBLIC DUTIES	.9
	7 - UNION/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	1000
7.01	ESTABLISHMENT OF COMMITTEE	10

7.02 7.03 7.04 7.05	FUNCTION OF COMMITTEE	1 <sup>1</sup>
	8 - UNION/MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS	
8.01 8.02	REQUEST OF INFORMATION FOR BARGAINING PURPOSES	1
ARTICLE	9 - RESOLUTIONS AND REPORTS OF THE EMPLOYER	
9.01 9.02	EMPLOYER SHALL NOTIFY UNION	
ARTICLE	10 - DISCIPLINE, SUSPENSION AND DISCHARGE	12
10.01 10.02 10.03 10.04 10.05 10.06 10.07 10.08 10.09 10.10 10.11	DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE  CONFIDENTIALITY  PRINCIPLE OF INNOCENCE  DISCIPLINE PROCEDURE  BURDEN OF PROOF  ADVERSE REPORT  CROSSING OF PICKET LINES DURING STRIKE  NO REPRISALS ARISING FROM WORK STOPPAGE  POLITICAL ACTION.  RIGHT TO HAVE STEWARD PRESENT  PERSONNEL RECORDS  USE OF DEMOTION AS DISCIPLINE	
ARTICLE	11 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	
11.01 11.02 11.03 11.04 11.05 11.06 11.07 11.08 11.09 11.10	DEFINITION AND RECOGNITION OF A GRIEVANCE.  INFORMAL EFFORTS AT RESOLUTION.  STEP ONE – FORMAL GRIEVANCE.  STEP TWO  STEP THREE – ARBITRATION.  POLICY OR GENERAL GRIEVANCE  NO DEVIATION FROM THE GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  ARBITRATION HEARING AND AWARD.  AUTHORITY OF THE ARBITRATOR.  COST SHARING.	
ARTICLE	12 - JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION	17
12.01 12.02	NEW JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION	17
ARTICLE	13 - JOB POSTINGS	17
13.01 13.02 13.03 13.04 13.05	JOB POSTINGS	18 18
ARTICLE	14 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES	
14.01 14.02 14.03	DEFINITIONS	20
14.04	TEMECHART AND CASUAL EMPLOYEE'S FURTHULLY TO APPLY FOR MEGULAR VACANCIES	20

14.05 14.06	TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE JOB POSTING RIGHTS	20
ARTICLE	15 - PROBATION	
15.01	PROBATIONARY PERIOD	04
15.02	PROBATIONARY WORK PERFORMANCE REVIEWS	21
	16 - SENIORITY	
16.01	SENIORITY FOR REGULAR AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES	21
16.02	SENIORITY LIST	21
16.03	TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE CONVERTING TO A REGULAR EMPLOYEE	22
16.04	SENIORITY ACCUMULATION	22
16.05	TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	22
16.06	LONGEVITY INCREMENT	
	17 - PROMOTIONS, TRANSFERS AND STAFF CHANGES	
17.01	ROLE OF SENIORITY IN PROMOTIONS, TRANSFERS, AND STAFF CHANGES	
ARTICLE	18 - WORKLOAD AND PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS	
18.01	PERFORMANCE REVIEWS	23
18.02	Review in Writing	23
18.03	EMPLOYEE RECOURSE ON REVIEW	24
18.04	MONITORING OF WORKLOAD AND PERFORMANCE	24
ARTICLE	19 - LAYOFFS AND RECALLS	
19.01	DEFINITION OF LAY-OFF	24
19.02	ADVANCE NOTICE OF LAY-OFFS	24
19.03	ROLE OF SENIORITY IN LAY-OFF	24
19.04	LAY-OFF OPTIONS	25
19.05	JOB SECURITY	25
19.06	SENIORITY ACCUMULATION AND RECALL PROCEDURE	25
19.07	No New Employees	26
19.08	MINIMIZING THE IMPACT OF LAY-OFF	26
19.09	ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF REDUCED MEMBERSHIP SERVICES	26
19.10	INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT	.26
ARTICLE	20 - AMALGAMATION, REGIONALIZATION & MERGER PROTECTION	.27
20.01	AMALGAMATION, REGIONALIZATION AND MERGER PROTECTION	.27
ARTICLE	21 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	.27
21.01	GENERAL PROVISIONS	
21.02	OVERTIME	
21.03	OPTION FOR DAILY AND WEEKLY HOURS & OVERTIME FOR SERVICING STAFF	.28
21.04	OPTIONAL HOURS AND OVERTIME	20
21.05	PAYOUT OF ACCUMULATED OVERTIME ON TERMINATION OR DEATH	.30
21.06	SERVICING STAFF ON-CALL	.31
2016/19/2019	22 - PAID HOLIDAYS	
22.01		
22.02	PAID HOLIDAYS  COMPENSATION FOR WORK ON A PAID HOLIDAY	.32
22.02	PAID HOLIDAY ON A NON-WORKING DAY	.32
TO STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE PA		
AKTICLE	23 - VACATIONS	.33
23.01	VACATION GRANTED	
23.02	LENGTH OF VACATIONS	

23.03	CARRY OVER OF VACATION ENTITLEMENT33
23.04	COMPENSATION FOR HOLIDAYS FALLING WITHIN ANNUAL VACATION SCHEDULE
23.05	VACATION ON A PAID HOLIDAY
23.06	VACATION PAY ON TERMINATION OR DEATH
23.07	VACATION PAY ON RETIREMENT
23.08	UNUSED VACATION ON DEATH
23.09	EARNED VACATION ON TERMINATION
23.10	WORKING DURING ANNUAL VACATION PERIOD
23.11	VACATION SCHEDULES
23.12	UNBROKEN VACATION PERIOD
23.13	APPROVED LEAVE OF ABSENCE DURING VACATION
ARTICLE	24 - EDUCATION35
24.01	TRAINING COURSE ENTITLEMENT
24.02	PAID EDUCATION LEAVE
24.03	EDUCATION ON THE JOB
24.04	PAYMENT OF EDUCATIONAL FEES
	25 - EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES
	교육 이 사용으로 가장 아름다고 보고 있다면 하나 사람들은 것이 되었다. 아름이 아름이 있다고 있다고 있다고 있다고 있다고 있다.
25.01 25.02	EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE
	EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR UPGRADING
	26 - MATERNITY, PARENTAL AND PATERNITY LEAVE37
26.01	PROTECTION DURING MATERNITY37
26.02	MATERNITY LEAVE
26.03	PARENTAL LEAVE38
26.04	SENIORITY STATUS DURING PARENTAL LEAVE
26.05	MATERNITY/PARENTAL LEAVE ALLOWANCE
26.06	PATERNITY LEAVE
26.07	DUTIES OF EMPLOYER
26.08	EMPLOYMENT DEEMED CONTINUOUS WHILE EMPLOYEE ON LEAVE
ARTICLE	27 - SPECIAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE41
27.01	PAID COMPASSIONATE LEAVE41
27.02	RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCE41
27.03	SPECIAL LEAVES
27.04	TIME OFF FOR ELECTIONS
27.05	PAID JURY OR COURT WITNESS DUTY LEAVE
27.06	TRAVEL LIFE INSURANCE
27.07	GENERAL LEAVE
27.08	CAREGIVER LEAVE
27.09	BANKING OF SALARY
27.10	PAID DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE
ARTICLE	28 - SICK LEAVE PROVISIONS43
28.01	PAID SICK LEAVE DEFINED
28.02	SICK LEAVE REQUEST
28.03	PAID SICK LEAVE
28.04	ILINESS IN THE FAMILY
28.05	REQUIREMENT OF MEDICAL CERTIFICATE
28.06	WEEKLY INDEMNITY BENEFITS
28.07	BENEFIT COVERAGE WHEN ON SICK LEAVE
28.08	BENEFIT TERMINATION UPON NON-CULPABLE DISCHARGE

ARTICLE	29 - HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT	.45
29.01	TEMPERATURE OF BUILDING	45
29.02	WORKPLACE SAFETY	45
29.03	EMPLOYER'S RESPONSIBILITY	.45
29.04	ILLNESS/INJURY AT WORK	45
29.05	JOINT HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEE	.46
29.06	NO SMOKING POLICY	46
29.07	SMOKING CESSATION COURSE	.46
29.08	COMPUTER MONITORS	.46
29.09	LUNCH AND RESTROOM FACILITIES	
	30 - PAYMENT OF WAGES	
30.01	Pay Period	.46
30.02	RATES OF PAY	.47
30.03	RATE OF PAY FOR A TEMPORARY INCREASE IN RESPONSIBILITIES	.47
30.04	PAY ON TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT	
ARTICLE	31- PAYMENT OF ALLOWANCES	.47
31.01	EMPLOYEE EXPENSES	47
31.02	CAR ALLOWANCES	48
31.03	PROFESSIONAL FEES AND LICENSES	49
31.04	LEGAL FEES	.49
ARTICLE	32 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS	.49
32.01	TEMPORARY AND CASUAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	
32.02	INSURANCE PLAN	49
32.03	RETIREMENT PLAN	50
32.04	HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL PLAN	50
32.05	INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBLE BENEFIT CREDIT	50
ARTICLE	33 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	50
33.01	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
ARTICLE	34 - GENERAL CONDITIONS	
34.01	LETTER OF REFERENCE	F-4
34.02	SOCIAL JUSTICE FUND	51
ARTICLE	35 - PRESENT CONDITIONS AND BENEFITS	
35.01	PRESENT CONDITIONS TO CONTINUE	
35.02	CONTINUATION OF ACQUIRED RIGHTS	52
47.5 (2.70.00)		
	36 - PRINTING OF THE AGREEMENT	
36.01	PRINTING OF THE AGREEMENT	
	37 - TERMS OF AGREEMENT	
37.01	DURATION	52
37.02	RETROACTIVE PAY FOR TERMINATED EMPLOYEES	53
37.03	RETROACTIVITY	
	X A - WAGE RATES	
APPENDI	X B - JOB CLASSIFICATIONS	56
SENIOR	BUSINESS AGENT	56
BUSINES	SS AGENT, FILM & TELEVISION & NEW MEDIA	57
BACKGF	ROUND PERFORMER REPRESENTATIVE - FILM, TELEVISION & NEW MEDIA	58

E	BUSINESS AGENT - RESIDUALS	59
(	ORGANIZER (INDUSTRY RELATIONS OFFICER)	- 60
l	UNION REPRESENTATIVE - FILM & TELEVISION &/OR COMMERCIAL	61
(	UNION REPRESENTATIVE - MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT	62
F	RESEARCHER AND SPECIAL PROJECTS MANAGER	63
F	RESIDUALS AND USE FEES ADMINISTRATOR	65
(	COMMUNICATIONS OFFICER	66
(	COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT ADMINISTRATOR	67
	MEMBER SERVICES COORDINATOR	
E	BOOKKEEPER	69
E	BENEFITS COORDINATOR	70
(	OFFICE COORDINATOR	71
N	MEMBER SERVICES ADMINISTRATOR	72
1	ASSISTANT STEWARD - FILM & TELEVISION	73
F	ASSISTANT STEWARD - COMMERCIAL DEPARTMENT	74
F	ASSISTANT STEWARD - RESIDUALS AND USE FEES	75
Α.	ASSISTANT STEWARD / WAIVER ADMINISTRATOR - FILM & TELEVISION	76
Ε.	ASSISTANT STEWARD - FINANCE	77
1	ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT	78
	RECEPTIONIST	
	OFFICE ASSISTANT	80
	DEFICE SUPPORT	
API	PENDIX C - EXCLUDED POSITIONS	82
	ITER OF UNDERSTANDING #1	
F	RE: SECTION 104	83
	TTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2	
	RE: SERVICES AVAILABLE FOR CONTRACTING OUT	
LET	TTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3	85
F	RE: HEALTH SPENDING ACCOUNT ("HSA")	85
LET	TTER OF UNDERSTANDING #4	88
	RE: REMOVE AGE 65 BENEFIT LIMIT	
	TTER OF UNDERSTANDING #5	
	RE: EMPLOYER PAID PARKING	
	TER OF UNDERSTANDING #6	
P	RE: ADTICLE 22.02 INCUIDANCE DI ANI	00

# **ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT**

# 1.01 PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

It is the purpose of both parties to this Agreement:

- (a) To improve relations between the Employer and the Union and provide settled and just conditions of employment;
- (b) To recognize the mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations in all matters pertaining to working conditions and employment;
- (c) To encourage efficiency in operations;
- (d) To promote the morale, well-being and security of all employees.

# **ARTICLE 2 - RESERVATION TO MANAGEMENT**

### 2.01 RESERVATION TO MANAGEMENT

The Union recognizes that it is the right of the Employer to exercise the regular and customary function of the Employer and to direct the working forces, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

# 2.02 NOT DISCRIMINATORY

The Employer will exercise its rights in a fair and reasonable manner. The Employer's rights shall not be used to direct the working force in a discriminatory manner nor will these rights be used in a manner which would deprive any employee of their employment except through just cause.

# **ARTICLE 3 – EMPLOYEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES**

### 3.01 EMPLOYEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES

As a condition of continued employment with UBCP/ACTRA, employees:

- (a) Must not accept an engagement within the jurisdiction of ACTRA;
- (b) Must not take part in any endeavour that would involve undesirable exploitation of their fellow employees, or members of UBCP/ACTRA or UBCP/ACTRA itself.
- (c) Must not deliberately or knowingly disclose confidential or unpublished information acquired by the employee in the course of employment with Employer.

### 3.02 DOCUMENTATION

All employees of UBCP/ACTRA must complete such forms and papers as are deemed to be required for continued employment, such as UBCP/ACTRA application forms, income tax, unemployment insurance, social insurance, retirement plan, hospital and Medicare, group life and others as may be required by law and by the Collective Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 4 - RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATION**

### 4.01 THE EMPLOYER

In accordance with the responsibilities assigned to the Employer, employees of UBCP/ACTRA will be under the direction of the President, the Managers and/or their assigned designate(s).

#### 4.02 BARGAINING UNIT

The Employer recognizes the Unifor Local 3000 as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all of its employees, save and except those positions excluded in Appendix "C". The Employer hereby agrees to negotiate with the Union, or any of its authorized committees, concerning all matters affecting the relationship between the parties, aiming towards a peaceful and amicable settlement of any difference that may arise between them.

### 4.03 SHOP STEWARD RECOGNITION

The Employer agrees to recognize Shop Stewards as the employee's representatives and will accord a hearing(s) to the Shop Stewards, without loss of pay and benefits, for settlement of disputes and grievances.

### 4.04 No OTHER AGREEMENTS

No employee will be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer or their Representative which may conflict with or vary with the terms of this Collective Agreement.

Nor will any agreements be permitted without the Union's involvement or agreement that would normally require the Union's involvement or agreement.

### 4.05 No Contracting Out

In order to provide job security for the members of the bargaining unit, the Employer agrees that all work or services will not be subcontracted, transferred, leased, assigned, or conveyed, in whole or in part, to any other branch, person or company.

# 4.06 WORK PERFORMED BY MANAGEMENT

- (a) Except as noted below in the LOU #2, members of the Executive Board, members of UBCP/ACTRA or excluded employees will not perform work ordinarily performed by members of the Bargaining Unit, except as incidental to their responsibilities. Further to the above, when creating and/or amending job descriptions for excluded positions, the Employer agrees not to include any work that would ordinarily be performed by members of the Bargaining Unit. The Union will be provided with copies of all existing, amended and/or newly created job descriptions for excluded positions.
- (b) Nothing in this Agreement prevents In-House Legal Counsel or External Legal Counsel from performing legal work on behalf of UBCP/ACTRA, including arbitrations or Labour Relations Board matters.
- (c) UBCP/ACTRA may develop, in consultation with Unifor, a membership-based servicing model provided that it does not result in layoff of bargaining unit employees, or a failure to recall a laid off employee, or prevents the hiring of regular employees.

### 4.07 RIGHT OF FAIR REPRESENTATION

Employees have the right at any time to have the assistance of a Shop Steward or any other representative of Unifor when dealing with the Employer. Such representative(s) will have access to the Employer's premises in order to deal with any matters arising out of this Collective Agreement.

#### 4.08 SOLE BARGAINING AGENT

The Employer will not bargain with or enter into any agreement with an employee or group of employees in the Bargaining Unit. No employee or group of employees will undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer without the proper authorization of the Union. In representing an employee or group of employees, an elected or appointed representative of the Union will be the Spokesperson.

# **ARTICLE 5 - HUMAN RIGHTS**

### 5.01 No DISCRIMINATION

(a) Every person may assert their right to be treated with dignity, respect and courtesy as a fundamental basis of a working relationship and to work in an environment free from any form of discrimination and/or harassment, whether individual and/or sexual in nature, and/or based on any prohibited grounds. Action contravening this policy will constitute grounds for discipline.

The Union and the Employer agree to co-operate in expeditiously resolving all complaints of discrimination and/or harassment, which arise in the workforce.

The Union shall be informed of all complaints regarding this article, at the time they are first raised with the Employer. In cases involving complaints against Management, or executive board members of either UBCP/ACTRA or ACTRA, a neutral third Party, agreed to by both Parties, shall be brought in to conduct the investigation. All costs related to investigations shall be paid by the Employer.

All findings along with the Employer's response/decision shall be shared with Unifor. The complainant and the respondent shall be provided with the Employer's response/decision. The Union and the Employer agree that all such documents are confidential, and the terms will not be disclosed to anyone outside of necessary principals.

(b) The Employer and the Union agree that they will afford every employee covered by this Agreement the right to equal benefit, equal protection and equal treatment with respect to this Agreement or with respect to any other term or condition of employment without discrimination and, in particular, without discrimination based on age, colour, family status, gender, gender identity, gender expression, marital status, mental or physical disability, national or ethnic origin, political affiliation or activity, religion, sexual orientation, social or economic status, union membership or activity.

## 5.02 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

The Employer and the Union agree to co-operate in formulating and implementing a program designed to ensure equal employment opportunity for all employees. Such program will deal with, but not be limited to, group welfare and pension plans, hiring, promotion and transfer policies, testing procedures, access to on-the-job training and educational advancement, classification schemes, job evaluation systems, wage and salary rates, provisions related to maternity and child-care requirements. The Employer agrees to provide the Union with access to such personnel data and other documents as may be requested by it. The implementation of the affirmative action program shall become the subject of collective bargaining between the parties.

### 5.03 NO BARRIER TO AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

Nothing in this Article will be construed as a barrier to the formulation or implementation of any affirmative action plan mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the Union.

# 5.04 OTHER LEGISLATION

Any claim by an employee or the Union pertaining to a violation of the Constitution of Canada, the Human Rights Legislation, or the Employment Standards Act, or any other labour relations legislation may be the subject of a grievance which will be processed in accordance with the Grievance Procedure.

# 5.05 PERSONAL RIGHTS

The rules, regulations, and requirements of employment shall be limited to matters pertaining to the work requirements of each employee. Employees will not be asked or required to do personal services for the Employer which are not connected with the operation of the Employer.

#### 5.06 HARASSMENT

- (a) (i) DEFINITION: Harassment is any practice or behaviour related to a ground referred to in Article 5.01 which is unwelcome by any person, in particular by Management or co-worker, whether verbal or physical, on a single or repeated basis, which: humiliates; insults; degrades; undermines an employee's health, job performance or workplace performance; endangers an employee's employment status or potential. Unwelcome in this context means any actions which the harasser knows or reasonably ought to know are not desired by the victim of the harassment. Harassment includes, but is not limited to sexual harassment and racial harassment.
  - (ii) DEFINITION: Individual harassment shall be defined as any offensive conduct or improper behaviour that demeans and/or causes embarrassment, by an individual directed at, or offensive to, another individual and that a reasonable person ought to have known would be unwelcome, and/or where such actions have the effect of creating an intimidating, humiliating, hostile or offensive work environment. This excludes any actions occasioned through exercising in good faith the Employer's managerial and/or supervisory rights and responsibilities.
  - (iii) DEFINITION: Racial Harassment is any action whether verbal or physical that expresses or promotes racial hatred in the workplace such as racial slurs, written or visually offensive actions, jokes or other unwanted comments or acts.
- (b) The Employer agrees to make all Management personnel and employees aware that harassment is subject to disciplinary action. The Employer also agrees to include the subject of harassment in staff or Management training sessions.
- (c) Cases of harassment related to personal characteristics protected by the BC Human Rights Code shall be considered as discrimination and shall be eligible to be processed as grievances.
- (d) Where the alleged harasser is the person who would normally deal with the first step of such grievances, the grievance will automatically be sent forward to the next step.

- (e) Information about the grievor's personal background, lifestyle or mode of dress will only be admissible during the grievance or arbitration procedures where it is relevant to the determination of the grievance.
- (f) The Employer recognizes the responsibility to maintain a discrimination-free workplace. Where harassment has been proven, and not remedied, an Arbitration Board will have the additional power to levy a penalty on the Employer.

Nothing in the above precludes an employee from filing a formal complaint under the Human Rights Code.

## 5.07 RIGHT TO AN ENVIRONMENT FREE FROM HARASSMENT

The Union and the Employer recognize the right of all employees to work in an environment of mutual respect free from harassment and agree to so operate in resolving, in a confidential manner to the extent possible, all complaints of harassment which arise in the workplace.

## 5.08 SEXUAL HARASSMENT - DEFINED

- (a) Sexual harassment shall be defined as any unwelcome physical contact, compromising invitation with sexual overtones or sexual comment, look, gesture or suggestion that creates an uncomfortable working environment for the recipient, made by a person who knows or ought to know it is unwelcome. It can also mean words or actions of a sexual nature which are intended only to be friendly.
- (b) Sexual harassment shall include a single sexual advance made by a person in authority over the recipient or implies a threat or denial of employment opportunity including a reprisal made after a sexual advance is rejected.
- (c) Specifically, without limiting the general definition as provided herein the following also defines sexual harassment:
  - (i) Words or physical contact which might seem like "making a pass". This includes hugging, patting or even putting an arm around someone's shoulders.
  - (ii) Jokes, cartoons, pin-ups, nicknames or comments that have to do with sex or the body.
  - (iii) Saying or implying to any employee that refusing or accepting a date or social invitation could affect promotion, work assignment, employment or other work conditions.

(iv) Dating, romantic or other personal relationships with employees under their supervision unless the employee has expressly consented to the relationship.

# 5.09 HARASSMENT - NO REPRISAL FOR RAISING A COMPLAINT

No employee shall be subject to reprisal, threat of reprisal or discipline as a result of raising a bona fide complaint of harassment. If a complaint is proven to have been false, malicious or vexatious, discipline may be applied.

### 5.10 HARASSMENT - STRICT CONFIDENCE

Complaints of harassment will be treated seriously and in confidence to the furthest extent possible, while ensuring a fair process is provided to the respondent and the complainant.

# 5.11 HARASSMENT - RIGHT TO DISCONTINUE CONTACT

An employee alleging harassment has the right to discontinue contact with the alleged harasser without incurring any loss in pay or benefits or be penalized in any way pending determination of a complaint or grievance as per Article 11.

## 5.12 HARASSMENT - TRANSFER OF OFFENDER ONLY

Where harassment is proven and results in the transfer of an employee, the offender may only be transferred with the complainant's consent.

## 5.13 HARASSMENT - DISCIPLINE OF ANY PERSON

Where harassment has been proven, the Employer agrees to impose discipline which is appropriate in all of the circumstances.

## 5.14 HARASSMENT - RIGHTS NOT NEGATED

Nothing in this Article will be considered to negate the right of an employee to seek redress through other legal means arising from a bona fide complaint of harassment, including but not limited to a Human Rights complaint.

### 5.15 ACCOMMODATIONS

- (a) The Employer agrees to make every reasonable effort to accommodate partially disabled employees by providing them with suitable alternate work such as a reduced workload or a different work assignment once they are able to return to work.
- (b) In most cases, the medical information required by the Employer is whether the employee is fit or unfit, the nature of the limitations (e.g. no heavy lifting, no stair climbing, reduced hours, etc.) and the expected duration of the limitations.

However, the Employer, where reasonably required, may request further medical information in order to assess reasonable accommodation. Medical information shall be clear, current and credible.

- (c) In the event the Employer is unable to accommodate a partially disabled employee, the employee and Unifor will be provided written reasons as to why the accommodation is not possible.
- (d) The Union shall be consulted and involved in all accommodation arrangements.
- (e) Seniority shall be a factor when planning accommodations.
- (f) No arrangements made under this clause shall be used to abrogate an employee's right to WorkSafeBC, weekly indemnity, long-term disability, or any other benefit.
- (g) The rate of pay of the position the employee is accommodated into shall apply during the period of accommodation. If the accommodation is made into a newly created position, the rate of pay will be negotiated with Unifor.

# **ARTICLE 6 - UNION SECURITY**

# 6.01 ALL EMPLOYEES TO BE MEMBERS

All employees of the Employer must, as a condition of employment, become and remain members in good standing of the Union, according to the Constitution and Bylaws of the Union. As a condition of employment, all new employees must become and remain members in good standing of the Union from the first day of employment.

#### 6.02 UNION DUES CHECK-OFF

- (a) The Employer will, as a condition of employment, deduct from the salary of each employee in the bargaining unit, the amount of the regular dues payable to the Union by a member of the Union.
- (b) Deductions will be made from each payroll cheque.
- (c) All deductions will be remitted to the Union not later than the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) day of the month following the month in which the deductions were made, accompanied by a list of the names of the employees from whose salaries these deductions have been made.
- (d) Dues deductions will be included on employees' T-4 slips.

### 6.03 No STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

In view of the orderly procedures established by this Agreement for the settling of disputes and the handling of grievances, the Union will not cause nor permit its members to cause a slow-down or a strike of any of the Employer's operations during the term of this Agreement. The Employer will not affect or engage in a lockout of its employees during the term of this Agreement.

### 6.04 POTENTIAL EMPLOYEES

The Employer agrees to acquaint potential employees with the fact that a Union Agreement is in effect, and with the conditions of employment set out in the Articles dealing with Union Security and Dues Check-Off.

### 6.05 INTERVIEWING OPPORTUNITY

On commencing employment, the employee's immediate supervisor will introduce the new employee to their Union Steward(s) or Representative. An Officer of the Union will be given an opportunity to interview each new employee within regular working hours, without loss of pay, for a maximum of thirty (30) minutes during the first (1<sup>st</sup>) month of employment for the purpose of acquainting the new employee with the benefits and duties of Union membership and their responsibilities and obligations to the Employer and the Union.

# 6.06 COMMUNICATION TO MEMBERS

Union Representatives are entitled to distribute Union literature and to convene Union meetings on the Employer's premises during non-working hours.

#### 6.07 CORRESPONDENCE

All correspondence between the parties, arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto, will pass to and from the Employer and the Unifor Union Representative, with a copy to the Chief Shop Steward.

### 6.08 UNION LABEL

All documents produced by bargaining unit members in the office of the Employer shall bear the Unifor Local 3000 label.

### 6.09 LEAVE OF ABSENCE TO ATTEND UNION FUNCTIONS

In the event that an employee is elected or appointed to represent the Union in Executive and Committee meetings of Unifor, its affiliated or chartered bodies and any labour organizations with which the Union is affiliated, they shall be granted leave of absence to attend Union meetings during working hours, providing the employee requests such time off at least five (5) working days in advance. Such time off must be authorized in advance by the Employer. Time off with pay and benefits will be limited to ten (10) days annually. Time off in excess of ten (10) days will be with loss of pay only.

# 6.10 LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR FULL-TIME UNION OR PUBLIC DUTIES

The Employer recognizes the right of an employee to participate in public affairs. Therefore, upon fifteen (15) working days written notice to the Employer, the Employer shall allow leave of absence without pay, but without loss of benefits for thirty (30) calendar days so that the employee may be a candidate in federal, provincial, or municipal elections.

- (a) An employee who is elected to public office shall be allowed leave of absence without loss of seniority during their terms of office.
- (b) An employee who is elected or selected for a full-time position with the Union, or anybody with which the Union is affiliated, shall be granted leave of absence without loss of seniority for the duration of the appointment or term of office.

# **ARTICLE 7 - UNION/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE**

## 7.01 ESTABLISHMENT OF COMMITTEE

A Union/Management Committee will be established consisting of two (2) Shop Stewards and one (1) Representative of the bargaining unit, and three (3) Representatives of the UBCP/ACTRA Executive Board and/or Management. The Committee shall enjoy the full support of both parties in the interests of improved service to the UBCP/ACTRA members, the general public and job security for the employees.

## 7.02 FUNCTION OF COMMITTEE

The Committee shall concern itself with the following general matters:

- (a) Considering constructive criticisms of all activities so that better relations shall exist between the Employer and the employees.
- (b) Improving and extending services to the UBCP/ACTRA membership and the general public.
- (c) Promoting safety and sanitary practices.
- (d) Reviewing suggestions from employees, questions of working conditions and service (but not grievances concerned with service).
- (e) Correcting conditions causing grievances and misunderstandings.
- (f) To convene in response to, and consider options regarding, specific situations with respect to, but not limited to, casual support staff and assignment of additional duties.

(g) This Committee will not make any decisions that are binding upon the Union as a whole without the approval of the Union. It will not violate or change this Agreement in any way. Union members will not be required to assume Management responsibilities in the enforcement of any rules or regulations.

## 7.03 MEETINGS OF COMMITTEE

The Committee will meet by mutual agreement at the request of either party at a mutually agreeable time and place. Its members will receive a notice and agenda of the meeting at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meeting. Employees shall not suffer any loss of pay for time spent with this Committee.

# 7.04 CHAIRPERSON OF THE MEETING

An Employer and a Union Representative will be designated as joint chairpersons and shall alternate in presiding over meetings.

### 7.05 MINUTES OF MEETING

Minutes of each meeting of the Committee will be prepared and signed by the joint chairpersons as promptly as possible after the close of the meeting and distributed to all members of the bargaining unit.

# **ARTICLE 8 - UNION/MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS**

# 8.01 REQUEST OF INFORMATION FOR BARGAINING PURPOSES

Upon request by the Union, the Employer will make available to the Union, within five (5) working days, any information required by the Union such as job descriptions, postings in the bargaining unit, job classifications, wage rates, financial and actuarial information pertaining to insurance and welfare plans.

### 8.02 Union Bargaining Committee

A Shop Steward plus two (2) employees will comprise the Union Bargaining Committee and shall be permitted to participate in negotiations relative to the renewal of this Collective Agreement, without loss of pay or other benefits. In preparation for the negotiations, an allowance of two (2) working days with pay shall be permitted. The employees shall be elected or appointed under the Constitution and By-Laws of the Unifor Local 3000.

Request for time off under this Clause shall be made a minimum of five (5) working days in advance. In circumstances where five (5) days' notice cannot be given, the Employer shall not unreasonably deny the leave.

The Union will take into consideration the Employer's staffing concerns when electing or appointing its Bargaining Committee.

# <u>ARTICLE 9 - RESOLUTIONS AND REPORTS OF THE EMPLOYER</u>

# 9.01 EMPLOYER SHALL NOTIFY UNION

UBCP/ACTRA agrees to discuss any reports or recommendations made to or by UBCP/ACTRA that may materially affect the terms and conditions of employment of members of the bargaining unit in a timely manner to afford the Union a reasonable opportunity to consider the report or recommendations and, where determined necessary by Unifor, to speak to the report or recommendations before any final decision is made by UBCP/ACTRA. This clause does not apply to reports respecting bargaining, grievances or confidential labour relations matters between UBCP/ACTRA and Unifor.

### 9.02 COPIES OF RESOLUTIONS

Copies of all motions, resolutions and bylaws or rules and regulations adopted by the ACTRA Executive, ACTRA and UBCP/ACTRA Executive Board which affect members of this Union are to be forwarded to the Shop Steward(s).

# **ARTICLE 10 - DISCIPLINE, SUSPENSION AND DISCHARGE**

#### 10.01 DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

Employees can only be disciplined or discharged for just and reasonable cause.

# 10.02 CONFIDENTIALITY

All matters regarding the discipline, grievance and arbitration procedure shall be considered and remain confidential.

### 10.03 PRINCIPLE OF INNOCENCE

Both parties agree that an employee is considered innocent until proven guilty. Therefore, in the event the Employer initiates a disciplinary action against an employee that may result in the suspension or discharge of the employee, the procedure set out below will be followed.

# 10.04 DISCIPLINE PROCEDURE

(a) The employee will be notified in writing by the Employer, with full disclosure of the reasons, grounds for action, and/or penalty, with a copy to the Union Representative.

### 10.05 BURDEN OF PROOF

In cases of discharge and/or discipline, the burden of proof of just cause will rest with the Employer. In the subsequent grievance proceedings or arbitration hearing, evidence shall be limited to the grounds stated in the discharge or discipline notice to the employee, except that the Employer may introduce evidence of misconduct of which it could not reasonably have been aware at the time of discipline or discharge.

### 10.06 ADVERSE REPORT

- (a) The Employer shall notify an employee in writing of any expression of dissatisfaction concerning their work within ten (10) working days of the Employer becoming aware of the event of the complaint, with copies to the Union and to the Unifor Representatives. This notice will include particulars of the work performance that led to the dissatisfaction. If this procedure is not followed, such expression of dissatisfaction will not become part of their record for use against them in regard to discharge, discipline, promotion or other related matters. This article is applicable to any complaint or accusation which may be detrimental to an employee's advancement or standing with the Employer, whether or not it relates to their work.
- (b) The employee's reply to such complaint, accusation or expression of dissatisfaction will become part of their record. The record of an employee will not be used against them at any time after eighteen (18) months following a suspension or disciplinary action, including letters of reprimand or any adverse reports, provided that there have been no further letters of reprimand, adverse reports or discipline regarding an incident of a similar nature in the subsequent eighteen (18) month period.

# 10.07 CROSSING OF PICKET LINES DURING STRIKE

An employee covered by this Agreement has the right to refuse to cross a picket line or refuse to do the work of striking or locked out employees, or to refuse to handle goods from an Employer where a strike or lockout is in effect. Failure to cross such a picket line or to perform the work of striking or locked out employees or to handle goods from an Employer where a strike or lockout is in effect by a member of this Union will not be considered a violation of this Agreement, nor will it be grounds for disciplinary action, other than loss of wages for the period involved.

#### 10.08 No Reprisals Arising From Work Stoppage

The Employer agrees that it will not terminate, suspend, discipline, discriminate, coerce, intimidate, impose or seek to impose a pecuniary or other penalty against any person because they engaged in a legal work stoppage, or in any activity related to a legal work stoppage.

#### 10.09 POLITICAL ACTION

No employee will be disciplined for participation in any political action(s) called for by Unifor, its affiliates, or associated bodies and endorsed by the National Executive Board or National President of Unifor.

### 10.10 RIGHT TO HAVE STEWARD PRESENT

A Steward must be present at any discussion between Management and an employee intended to be the basis of disciplinary action or the disciplinary action shall be deemed null and void. Timelines under Article 10.06 will be extended until a Steward is available to attend the disciplinary meeting.

- (a) A Steward or Local Union Officer has a right to consult with a Unifor Union Representative and to have them present at any discussion with Management which may be the basis of disciplinary action.
- (b) Where Management schedules an interview, discussion or meeting for a disciplinary purpose, Management must advise the employee and a Steward in advance of the interview, discussion or meeting of its intended purpose.
- (c) An employee has the right to the presence of a Steward at any meeting or discussion with Management.

#### 10.11 PERSONNEL RECORDS

- (a) An employee has the right at any time to have access to and review their personnel records. Any disagreement as to the accuracy of information contained in the file may be subject to the Grievance Procedure and the eventual resolution thereof shall become part of the employee's record.
- (b) No evidence from the employee's record may be introduced as evidence in any hearing of which the employee was not aware at the time of filing.
- (c) An employee has the right to access and to make copies of any material contained in their personnel record upon request.
- (d) The personnel records of an employee, or former employee, will not be shared in any manner with any other employee, Employer or agency without the prior written consent of the employee concerned.

### 10.12 USE OF DEMOTION AS DISCIPLINE

Demotion will not be used as a disciplinary measure.

# **ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE**

## 11.01 DEFINITION AND RECOGNITION OF A GRIEVANCE

- (a) The Employer and the Union recognize that grievances may arise concerning:
  - (i) Any complaint, disagreement or differences of opinion between the parties respecting the interpretation, application, operation or alleged

- violation of this Collective Agreement, including a question of whether a matter is subject to arbitration.
- (ii) The dismissal or discipline of an employee bound by this Collective Agreement.
- (b) The procedure for resolving a grievance is the grievance procedure in this Article.
- (c) Shop steward(s) and grievors will not suffer any loss of pay or benefits for the total time involved in the grievance and arbitration procedure.

# 11.02 INFORMAL EFFORTS AT RESOLUTION

The parties to a grievance are encouraged to make an earnest effort to resolve a grievance through informal discussion. The provisions of Article 10.10 apply to this informal process.

## 11.03 STEP ONE - FORMAL GRIEVANCE

- (a) The Employer will advise the Union as to its Step One designate(s).
- (b) If no resolution has been reached through the informal process, notice of the grievance must be filed by the Union in writing with the appropriate Step One designate within ten (10) working days after the occurrence of the alleged grievance or of the date on which the employee first had knowledge of the event(s) giving rise to a grievance.
- (c) The Step One designate must answer the grievance within ten (10) working days of receipt.
- (d) At the discretion of the Union, a Unifor Union Representative may be involved in the grievance.
- (e) A grievance at Step One must clearly describe the nature of the incident or occurrence which gave rise to the grievance and clearly state the provision of the Collective Agreement which is alleged to have been violated.
- (f) Any resolution of a grievance or a potential grievance reached at Step One is without prejudice or precedent to either party to the Collective Agreement.

#### 11.04 **STEP TWO**

(a) In the event that the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step One, it may be advanced to the Designated Manager at Step Two within five (5) working days on the date at which a written answer was delivered rejecting the grievance at Step One.

(b) The Designated Manager and the Step One designate and the employee, a Shop Steward(s) and a Unifor Union Representative will attempt to resolve the grievance at Step Two.

### 11.05 STEP THREE - ARBITRATION

In the event that the Step Two process does not resolve the grievance to the satisfaction of the Union and the Employer, either the Union or the Employer must advance the grievance to the next step within thirty (30) days of completion of the last step or the grievance is deemed abandoned. The next step involves a selection from the following alternatives:

- (a) a single Arbitrator
- (b) an application under section 104 of the Labour Relations Code.

#### 11.06 POLICY OR GENERAL GRIEVANCE

Policy, group and grievances pertaining to suspension and/or discharge will be initiated at Step Two of the grievance procedure.

## 11.07 No Deviation from the Grievance Procedure

- (a) Once a grievance has been initiated by the Union, the Employer will not enter into any discussion or negotiation with respect to the grievance, either directly or indirectly, with an employee who has initiated or is the subject of a grievance, without the consent of the Union.
- (b) The Union agrees that if, after a grievance has been filed by the Union, an employee endeavours to pursue the same grievance or complaint through any other channel than the procedure contained in this Article, the grievance shall be considered to be withdrawn, except where the other procedure is a complaint to the Human Rights Tribunal.

# 11.08 ARBITRATION HEARING AND AWARD

- (a) The parties agree to use the following arbitrators: Joan McEwen, Mark Brown, Julie Nichols, Corinn Bell, Arne Peltz, Koml Kandola.
- (b) The arbitrator will be encouraged to commence the arbitration within fifteen (15) working days of their appointment and to render a decision within fifteen (15) working days of the conclusion of any arbitration hearing.
- (c) In order to expedite the arbitration process, the parties agree that they will meet to identify the issue or issues and to prepare, in written form, a statement of facts which are not in dispute. The identification of the issue(s) and the statement of agreed facts will be provided to the Arbitrator.

(d) The parties recognize that they are bound by the decision of the Arbitrator.

# 11.09 AUTHORITY OF THE ARBITRATOR

The parties recognize that the authority of the Arbitrator is set out in Section 89 of the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia.

### 11.10 COST SHARING

Each party to the Arbitration will be responsible for its own costs and will share equally, the cost associated with the Arbitrator.

# **ARTICLE 12 - JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION**

#### 12.01 NEW JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION

The Employer will prepare a new job description whenever a job is created or whenever the duties of a job change. When the duties of any job are changed or increased, or where the Union and/or an employee feels a job is unfairly or incorrectly classified, or when a new job is created or established, the job description and rate of pay will be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. If the parties are unable to agree on the classification or reclassification and/or rate of pay for the job in question within ten (10) consecutive days, such dispute will be submitted to grievance and arbitration for determination. The new rate will become retroactive to the time the new position was first filled by the employee or the date of change in job duties.

# 12.02 APPENDIX "B", JOB DESCRIPTIONS

Appendix "B", Job Descriptions, is hereby incorporated into this Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS**

### 13.01 JOB POSTINGS

- (a) When a new position is created, or when a temporary or regular vacancy occurs, the Employer will notify the Union in writing and post notice of the position on the bulletin board within five (5) working days. Vacancies arising from normal retirement or maternity leave will be posted not less than sixty (60) days prior to the employee's normal retirement/maternity leave date, with notification in writing to the Union. The Employer has no obligation to post a vacancy created by the promotion or transfer of an employee until thirty (30) days after the effective date of the promotion or transfer.
- (b) The Shop Steward(s) will receive copies of all job postings and shall be provided with copies of all internal job applications at the time they are submitted.

(c) The Employer must notify, by telephone or email, employees absent or on layoff during the period that vacancy is posted, of the vacancy. It is the employee's responsibility to advise the Employer in writing of their contact information when absent or on layoff.

### 13.02 JOB POSTING DETAIL

- (a) The posting will contain the following information: nature of position, qualifications, required knowledge and education, skills, hours of work, start date and salary rate.
  - Educational background and industry related knowledge and experience will be considered in assessing applicants in accordance with Article 13.03 of the UBCP/ACTRA/Unifor Collective Agreement.
- (b) Qualifications and requirements will be those necessary to perform the job functions and may not be established in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner.
- (c) All job postings will state that "The Unifor Local 3000 adheres to the principle of employment equity."

#### 13.03 SELECTION PROCESS

- (a) The Employer will fill vacancies from within the bargaining unit before hiring new employees.
- (b) Members of the bargaining unit who have passed the probation period who wish to apply for a vacancy or new classification must do so in writing within five (5) working days of the job posting.
- (c) An employee who has passed the probation period is eligible to apply for a temporary position as long as:
  - (1) they are available to commence work on the start date of the position or within a reasonable period of time thereafter; and
  - (2) expect to be available to perform the duties and responsibilities of the temporary position throughout the term of the position.
- (d) Preference for job awards will be given to employees who have the seniority, ability, skills and qualifications to do the job.
- (e) The Employer must examine all bargaining unit applications and interview all bargaining unit applicants prior to considering external applicants.
- (f) Where possible, the Employer shall advise each applicant and the Union in writing of its decision within seven (7) calendar days of the closing of the posting.

- (g) The Employer will notify an employee who is successful on an application for a job posting within thirty (30) calendar days following the end of the posting period.
- (h) In the event that the Employer determines that no applicant from within the bargaining unit has the skills and qualifications to do the work required, or when no application has been filed, the Employer may fill the vacancy or new classification of work from outside of the bargaining unit.

# 13.04 TRIAL PERIOD FOR PROMOTIONS, TRANSFERS & STAFF CHANGES

- (a) An employee who is the successful applicant for a job posting will be provided a trial period of sixty (60) days worked following commencement in the new position during which time they will receive the necessary training for the position. The Employer shall provide a written evaluation (which shall include corrective guidance if needed), after thirty (30) days worked of the trial period. The Employer may not curtail the trial period before it has been completed, without just cause. The Employer will notify the employee(s) in writing of the successful completion of the trial period.
- (b) If the employee proves unsatisfactory during the trial period, the Employer must outline in writing its concerns to the employee. The employee will return to their former position without loss of seniority and other employees who have been appointed to fill subsequent postings will return to their former positions without loss of seniority.
- (c) The employee may, at any time during the trial period choose to return to their former position without loss of seniority.
- (d) Employees who have been appointed to fill subsequent postings will return to their former position without loss of seniority.

## 13.05 OUTSIDE ADVERTISING

No outside applications for any vacancy or new classification within the bargaining unit will be considered until all bargaining unit applications have been examined and all bargaining unit applicants have been interviewed.

# **ARTICLE 14 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES**

# 14.01 DEFINITIONS

(a) A "casual" is an employee who is employed to provide short term help in any of the job classifications listed in Appendix B for a period of thirty (30) calendar days or less except where that period is extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

- (b) A "regular" employee is an employee employed for work of a continuous nature.
- (c) A "temporary employee" is an employee hired to fill a temporary position.
- (d) A "temporary position" is one created for a special project or specific work required for a period of more than thirty (30) days but not exceeding six (6) months, except in the case of maternity or parental leave, leave pursuant to 27.08, or when extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer.

### 14.02 AVAILABILITY FOR TEMPORARY POSITIONS

- (a) A temporary employee may be hired for a temporary position when no regular employee has the skills and qualifications to do the work of the temporary position or where no regular employee has made an application for a temporary position.
- (b) When a regular employee fills a temporary position, they will return to their previous position when the term of the temporary position expires.

# 14.03 PREFERENCE FOR REGULAR EMPLOYEES FOR CASUAL WORK

The Employer will make reasonable efforts to offer work of a casual nature to interested regular employees before hiring casual employees provided that no overtime costs are incurred and the operations of the Employer are not unduly disrupted by assignment of regular employees to perform casual work.

# 14.04 TEMPORARY AND CASUAL EMPLOYEE'S ELIGIBILITY TO APPLY FOR REGULAR VACANCIES

An application by a temporary employee who has passed the probation period or casual employee for a regular position posted pursuant to Article 13 will be considered only after the Employer has determined that no regular employee applicant is suitable pursuant to Article 13.03.

## 14.05 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE JOB POSTING RIGHTS

- (a) A temporary employee has a continuing right to be considered on jobs posted pursuant to Article 13.01 following termination of their temporary employment.
- (b) The duration of this right will be twelve (12) months from the last day of the last period of temporary employment.
- (c) A former temporary employee applying for a posted job, as stated above, will be evaluated after regular employee applicants and before outside applicants pursuant to Article 13.03.
- (d) A former temporary employee is responsible for ensuring that the Employer has their current contact information.

# 14.06 LIMITS ON USE OF TEMPORARY AND CASUAL EMPLOYEES

The Employer shall not use a temporary or casual employee if it results in the lay-off of a regular employee, or if it would prevent the recall from lay-off of a regular employee or if it would prevent the hiring of a regular employee.

# **ARTICLE 15 - PROBATION**

### 15.01 PROBATIONARY PERIOD

- (a) All new regular and temporary employees will be subject to a probationary period of sixty (60) days worked commencing on the first (1<sup>st</sup>) day of employment.
- (b) If a temporary position becomes regular in a classification and the temporary employee who has been filling the temporary position is the successful candidate following completion of the job posting and selection procedure in Article 13, the probationary period must be reduced by the time already spent filling the position on a temporary basis.

#### 15.02 PROBATIONARY WORK PERFORMANCE REVIEWS

The Employer will provide orientation and training for forty-five (45) calendar days to all probationary employees along with a written evaluation (which shall include corrective guidance if needed) after thirty (30) days worked. The Employer will advise the employee in writing upon the completion of the probationary period whether or not the employee has passed.

# **ARTICLE 16 – SENIORITY**

# 16.01 SENIORITY FOR REGULAR AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

Seniority will be accumulated on the basis of length of service with the Employer and will be credited to each employee at the completion of the probationary period of sixty (60) working days, retroactive to the first day of employment. The Employer will notify the employee(s), in writing, of the successful completion of the probation period.

#### 16.02 SENIORITY LIST

- (a) A seniority list will be made available to the Union on October 1st of each year. Seniority of employees will be calculated from the date of their employment with the Employer, based on actual time worked while on continuous employment including regular and temporary assignments.
- (b) For the purpose of this Article, continuous employment means while the employee is considered an employee regardless of whether or not they are on the payroll of the Employer.

## 16.03 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE CONVERTING TO A REGULAR EMPLOYEE

A temporary employee who works more than six (6) months in any consecutive nine (9) month period, will be considered as having become a regular employee, effective their commencement of temporary employment, except where the employee occupied a temporary position created by a maternity or parental leave, leave pursuant to 27.09, or where extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

#### 16.04 SENIORITY ACCUMULATION

Seniority will continue to accumulate:

- (a) while the employee is on a maternity leave, sick leave or any other leave of absence, whether paid or unpaid;
- (b) while on layoff pursuant to Article 19.06.

### 16.05 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

- (a) Employment and seniority rights will be lost when an employee:
  - (i) Voluntarily resigns in writing.
  - (ii) Is discharged for just and reasonable cause in writing.
  - (iii) Is deemed to have resigned as a result of not returning to work within fifteen (15) calendar days of being recalled from lay-off for work in excess of four (4) weeks after having been notified by registered mail to the last known address. If illness or other just cause prevents the employee from responding in time, the period shall be extended by the duration of the illness or as mutually agreed. It is the responsibility of the employee to keep the Employer informed of their current address. The employee and the Union will be notified in writing of employment and seniority loss.
  - (iv) Is not recalled within twelve (12) months of layoff.
  - (v) Fails to become and remain a member in good standing of Unifor.
- (b) Seniority rights will be lost when an employee accepts an excluded position with the Employer for a period exceeding ninety (90) calendar days.

### 16.06 LONGEVITY INCREMENT

Providing an employee has a minimum of two (2) years' service and is actively employed at the time longevity pay is paid out (the pay cheque prior to Christmas) they will receive:

- (a) two dollars (\$2.00) per week per year of full-time employment with UBCP/ACTRA for the first (1st) ten (10) years of service;
- (b) for each additional year of service, two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.50) per week.

An employee absent for an entire calendar year shall not receive longevity pay that year. Employees on Maternity/Parental leave shall be paid their longevity pay upon their return to work.

If an employee goes on leave pursuant to Article 27.06, 27.07, or 27.08 or lay-off, and does not return in that calendar year to active employment by the time longevity pay is paid out, they shall receive pro-rated longevity pay based on the months worked in that calendar year. Such employee shall receive the longevity pay prior to their last day of work.

# **ARTICLE 17 - PROMOTIONS, TRANSFERS AND STAFF CHANGES**

# 17.01 Role of Seniority in Promotions, Transfers, and Staff Changes

Both parties recognize:

- (a) The principle of promotion within the service of the Employer.
- (b) That job opportunity should increase in proportion to length of service. Therefore, in making staff changes, transfers, or promotions, appointments will be made of the applicant(s) with the greatest seniority and having the required qualifications in accordance with Article 13.03.
- (c) The Employer shall notify the Union in writing of all job opportunities that arise under this Article.

# **ARTICLE 18 - WORKLOAD AND PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS**

# 18.01 Performance Reviews

The Employer and the Union recognize that a regular series of performance review(s) creates a positive dialogue between an employee and the Employer. Accordingly, at least once each year, a formal review shall be undertaken between the employee and the Employer. Peer reviews shall be voluntary and shall not be raised or used to justify discipline against an employee.

### 18.02 REVIEW IN WRITING

The review will be in writing and an employee has the right to include their own comments.

# 18.03 EMPLOYEE RECOURSE ON REVIEW

In the event that an employee feels that the review amounts to a reprimand and the review is not changed to the satisfaction of the employee, they have the right to recourse through the grievance procedure.

### 18.04 Monitoring of Workload and Performance

To enable the Employer to monitor regularly the overall performance of the Branch, the Employer and the employee Representatives will meet as required to review workloads, job performance, office priorities and general service to the UBCP/ACTRA membership.

# **ARTICLE 19 - LAYOFFS AND RECALLS**

#### 19.01 DEFINITION OF LAY-OFF

A lay-off will be defined as a reduction in the work force or a reduction in the regular hours of work as defined in this Agreement.

#### 19.02 ADVANCE NOTICE OF LAY-OFFS

- (a) All Regular Employees will be given the following notice of lay-off in writing or wages in lieu of notice:
  - (i) Thirty (30) days' notice where the employee has been employed less than one (1) year.
  - (ii) After the completion of a period of employment of one (1) consecutive year, ninety (90) days' notice.
- (b) At the time of advising the Union of the impending lay-off, the parties will meet to discuss ways of reducing the impact of the layoffs on the bargaining unit.
- (c) If the employee(s) has not had the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article, they will be paid for the days for which work was not made available.

#### 19.03 ROLE OF SENIORITY IN LAY-OFF

- (a) Both parties recognize that job security will increase in proportion to length of service. Therefore, in the event of a lay-off, employees will be laid off in the reverse order of their bargaining-unit-wide seniority subject to the capacity to perform the available work. If the employee with more seniority requires a sixty (60) days worked trial period to familiarize the employee with the position, such trial period will be granted.
- (b) The right to bump includes the right to bump up.

(c) With the agreement of the Employer, an employee with greater seniority may choose voluntary layoff or severance pay pursuant to Article 19.04 so a more junior employee can continue working.

### 19.04 LAY-OFF OPTIONS

- (a) If an employee is laid-off, bumped or otherwise displaced and/or is unable to maintain fulltime work at the same regular rate of pay in a comparable class of work, they may bump (within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the lay-off notice), or accept the lay-off with full recall rights as laid out in clause 19.06, or at any point within thirty (30) calendar days of the lay-off taking effect, a regular employee shall have the right to request severance pay and leave the employ of UBCP/ACTRA.
- (b) An employee accepting severance pay will be deemed to have voluntarily resigned.
- (c) An employee will receive the following severance pay:
  - (i) For length of service up to one (1) year four (4) weeks' pay.
  - (ii) For length of service over one (1) year four (4) weeks' pay plus one (1) week's pay for each year of service or major portion thereof.
  - (iii) Where minimum provincial laws exceed this, the relevant provincial laws shall govern.

### 19.05 JOB SECURITY

In the interest of harmonious relations and for the mutual benefit of the Unifor Local 3000 and the Employer, the Employer will make every effort to ensure stability and job security.

- (a) The Employer will ensure that employees are not displaced from employment or suffer reduction in pay as a result of the introduction of any new technology or major internal reorganization.
- (b) In the event that the Employer must reduce the size of the work force as a result of fiscal restraints, the provisions of this article will apply.

## 19.06 SENIORITY ACCUMULATION AND RECALL PROCEDURE

Employees on lay-off will continue to accumulate seniority for twelve (12) months. When vacancies occur, employees on lay-off will be recalled in order of seniority.

### 19.07 No New Employees

New employees will not be hired until those laid off and capable of performing the available work have been given the opportunity of recall.

# 19.08 MINIMIZING THE IMPACT OF LAY-OFF

- (a) In an attempt to minimize the impact of the lay-off, the Employer may negotiate with the Union to make whatever monetary arrangements are mutually satisfactory to the individual and the Employer. These arrangements may include, but are not limited to, monetary bonuses, and alternate working arrangements.
- (b) The Employer and the Union shall cooperate in assisting laid off employees to obtain employment elsewhere. In particular, it is agreed that reasonable time off will be given for employment search, including attendance at job interviews during the notice period. The Employer's facilities may be used for preparation of a resume, letters of reference and any other resources necessary to facilitate an employee's job search.

## 19.09 ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF REDUCED MEMBERSHIP SERVICES

It is understood that reduction in the size of the work force may result in a reduction in the level of service provided by the Employer. It is agreed that the Employer, the Union and the employees in the department(s) involved will cooperate in redefining the priorities of the department(s) and reassigning the necessary work. The Employer will communicate as much information as possible to its membership concerning any services that may be curtailed.

#### 19.10 INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT

- (a) Insurance Plan: Subject to the terms of the applicable insurance plan, employees on lay-off will be covered for all benefits provided through the UBCP/ACTRA designated Health Plan, except for Weekly Indemnity and Long-Term Disability.
  - Such coverage shall extend until thirty (30) days after the employee has commenced other permanent employment or one (1) year from the date of the lay-off, whichever occurs first. The cost of premiums will be borne by the Employer.
- (b) Retirement Plan: Employees on lay-off will have the option of de-registering the RRSP, transferring the funds to another RRSP or maintaining the account through the ACTRA Fraternal Benefit Society or the UBCP/ACTRA designated RRSP Plan, as chosen by the employee.

# **ARTICLE 20 - AMALGAMATION, REGIONALIZATION & MERGER PROTECTION**

# 20.01 AMALGAMATION, REGIONALIZATION AND MERGER PROTECTION

In recognition of the need for input, UBCP/ACTRA will meet with the Unifor Local 3000 in advance of any action being taken to discuss the possible impact of technological change, merger of organizations or major internal reorganization.

In the event the Employer merges or amalgamates with any other body, the Employer undertakes to ensure that:

- (a) Employees will be credited with all seniority rights with the new Employer. All service credits relating to vacation with pay, sick leave credits and other benefits will be recognized by the new Employer.
- (b) All work and services presently performed by members of the Unifor Local 3000 will continue to be performed by Unifor Local 3000 members with the new Employer.
- (c) Conditions of employment and wage rates for the new Employer will be equal to the best provisions in effect with the merging Employers.
- (d) If the Employer amalgamates, affiliates or merges with any other union, guild or organization, the Employer agrees that no employee shall be laid-off, terminated or otherwise displaced as a result of such amalgamation, affiliation or merger for a period of two (2) years following such amalgamation, affiliation or merger.
- (e) Preference in location of employment in the merged location will be on the basis of seniority.

# **ARTICLE 21 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME**

# 21.01 GENERAL PROVISIONS

- (a) "Regular hours of operation" are the hours between 8:30 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday to Friday. The calendar week is Sunday to Saturday.
- (b) Except as otherwise established pursuant to this Article, a regular work day shall consist of seven (7) consecutive hours per day inclusive of two (2) fifteen (15) minute paid rest periods and exclusive of a one (1) hour unpaid lunch break. Weekly hours are thirty-five (35) hours per week within the regular hours of operation.
- (c) All time spent in Board, Staff or Membership meetings and any other occasion directed by the Employer will be considered time worked and paid accordingly, or the equivalent time off shall be granted to the employees.

- (d) The Employer shall reasonably consider employee requests for flexible work schedules, shortened work weeks and/or job sharing which may be negotiated by the Parties. The Chief Shop Steward will be advised of the request at the time it is submitted. In the absence of agreement on a flexible schedule or job sharing, the provisions of this Article will apply.
- (e) Where an employee is absent for any reason, the Employer will ensure proper and efficient operations.

#### 21.02 OVERTIME

- (a) All overtime is voluntary and must be pre-authorized in writing by Management except where the Employer requires attendance at a UBCP/ACTRA Executive Board, staff or membership meeting outside of the employee's scheduled hours.
- (b) Overtime will be compensated at the employee's pro-rated hourly rate at:
  - (i) Time and one-half (1½) for each hour beyond seven (7) hours;
  - (ii) Double time for each hour beyond the eleventh (11th) hour in any one (1) day.
- (c) Overtime work on a Saturday, Sunday or an employee's scheduled day off will be compensated at double time for each hour worked unless the Employer and employee agree that Saturday or Sunday will be part of an employee's work schedule.
- (d) An employee who is required to work on a day of rest or outside of normal working hours for a period of time not contiguous with normal working hours will be compensated for a minimum of four (4) hours at the applicable overtime rate. If it is mutually agreed between the Employer and employee that the work will be performed remotely (eg. from home), the minimum call will be two (2) hours at the applicable overtime rate.
- (e) Overtime will be paid in one-quarter (1/4) hour units. It is the employee's option to receive payments for overtime worked or time off in lieu of overtime pay equivalent to the number of hours for which they would have been paid. In any event, all accumulated overtime will be paid out to an employee by the end of the calendar year after the year in which it was accumulated.
- (f) When an employee is required to work overtime for a minimum of two (2) hours beyond their scheduled seven (7) hour work day, and such overtime extends beyond the two (2) hour minimum and the employee has not otherwise already taken their forty-five (45) minute rest period, overtime will be paid in accordance with 21.02 (e), and the additional three-quarter (3/4) hour unit will be calculated at the employee's regular rate of pay and be added to the overtime pay in

- consideration of the missed rest period. A meal will be provided or paid in accordance with 31.01 (a) (ii).
- (g) Each employee is entitled to a rest period of not less than (10) hours between the end of one (1) work day and the beginning of work on the next day. An employee who commences work late in a day to meet this requirement will finish a subsequent work day at the end of their scheduled day with no loss of pay.
- (h) In unforeseen circumstances where it is necessary to work overtime and the employee cannot reasonably contact Management for authorization, the employee will be credited with the overtime worked at the discretion of the Employer. A request for overtime credit under this clause will not be unreasonably denied.
- (i) The Employer will offer overtime that is not job specific in order of seniority on a rotational basis. When the employee who is to be offered overtime has been absent from work due to illness for four (4) of their previous five (5) days of scheduled work, that employee will not be offered overtime. Where an employee declines an offered overtime opportunity, the employee will move in the rotation as if the offered overtime was accepted.
- (j) All hours falling between the end of an employee's regular shift and the commencement of pre-planned and/or pre-requested work the employee performs on behalf of the Employer in the same work day will be considered as time worked and compensated at the appropriate rate.
- (k) Where an employee is required to attend an Executive Board, staff or membership meeting on their scheduled day off, they will be credited with one-half (½) hour of overtime in addition to the time worked.

### 21.03 OPTION FOR DAILY AND WEEKLY HOURS & OVERTIME FOR SERVICING STAFF

- (a) "Servicing staff" includes the Communications Officer, the Organizer, all Union Representatives and any other position that may be defined as Servicing Staff by agreement between the Employer and the Union.
- (b) The parties recognize the primary importance of membership servicing for a trade union such as UBCP/ACTRA whose members may be required to work hours beyond the standard work day and work week. In addition, the parties recognize that the unique nature of film, television, commercial and related production makes performers vulnerable to exploitation. The parties also recognize the concerns of employees in relation to workload and other demands.
- (c) To that end, the parties agree on an alternative to the hours of work and overtime provisions established under Articles 21.01 and 21.02 as an option

for servicing staff. This approach will allow both employees and UBCP/ACTRA to determine the degree of self-management that will apply to individual members of the servicing staff.

- (d) Current servicing staff will make an election to work under the provisions of either of:
  - (i) Option A --the hours of work and overtime provisions contained under Articles 21.01 and 21.02 above, or
  - (ii) Option B as established under Article 21.04.
- (e) Each election is for six (6) month period commencing January 1st and July 1st of each year.
- (f) An employee must advise Management in writing of their election between working under Articles 21.01 and 21.02 or working under Article 21.04 at least two (2) weeks prior to the effective date. Management must advise the employee in writing of acceptance or rejection of the employee's election within one (1) week of the effective date. Option A is the default in the event that there is no agreement between Management and the employee at each election.
- (g) Employees hired, promoted or transferred into servicing staff positions or the Organizer or Communications Officer Positions will be assigned to hours of work under Option A or Option B at the Employer's discretion but may request a change in each six (6)-month period. Such a request for a change will not be unreasonably denied.
- (h) Current employees subsequently promoted into servicing staff positions will have an election at the next election period after one (1) year in the servicing staff position.

#### 21.04 OPTIONAL HOURS AND OVERTIME

The following are the hours of work and overtime provisions for servicing staff electing or assigned to work under Option B. These provisions do not apply to servicing staff working under Option A.

- (a) Each employee will work an average of one hundred and fifty-one and one-half (151.5) hours each month. Daily hours and days worked for each servicing staff employee will fluctuate based upon individual workloads reflecting the servicing assignments of individual employees. Employees will be selfmanaging in terms of the manner in which they structure their work assignments.
- (b) Servicing staff will advise Management of their work activities through reports, office contact or other methods as required.

- (c) In lieu of overtime, servicing staff will:
  - (i) Accrue three (3) days of paid time off in each calendar quarter, prorated for each partial quarter worked, and
  - (ii) Receive an add-to pay of four percent (4%).
- (d) Lieu days will not accrue for quarters in which the employee is absent for paid or unpaid leaves of absence in excess of seven (7) working days and will not accrue during maternity or paternity leave. For the purposes of this clause, vacation is not considered to be leave.
- (e) Subject to operational requirements, lieu days will be utilized in the quarter following the quarter in which they accumulated. Where possible, lieu days will be scheduled by mutual agreement. Neither the Employer nor the employee will unreasonably withhold agreement on scheduling lieu days. Management has the right to schedule days off where agreement cannot be reached. Lieu days that are not utilized will be paid out in cash at equivalent straight time rates.
- (f) Overtime hours at time and one-half (1½) will be paid as follows:
  - (i) Four (4) hours for each consecutive overnight assignment requiring accommodation away from the employee's principal residence, commencing on the third complete night of the assignment.
  - (ii) All hours in excess of four (4)-hour pre-approved for overtime on statutory holidays. Travel time will be considered as time worked.

# 21.05 PAYOUT OF ACCUMULATED OVERTIME ON TERMINATION OR DEATH

Accrued and unused overtime will be paid in full to:

- (a) the employee upon retirement or termination, or
- (b) the employee's estate upon the death of the employee.

## 21.06 SERVICING STAFF ON-CALL

Because film, television, commercial and related production may occur at any time of the day or any day of the week, the parties agree to implement an "on call" system as follows:

(a) Designated members of Management, the Business Agent, Film & Television and each member of the servicing staff who has selected or been assigned to Option B under Article 21.04 above may be assigned to an on-call rotation of one (1) week each to a maximum of one (1) week per month.

- (b) UBCP/ACTRA members will be directed to call the on-call number where a problem arises outside of normal operating hours.
- (c) An employee will receive two hundred dollars (\$200.00) for each week they are on-call in addition to any other regular or overtime payment.

# **ARTICLE 22 - PAID HOLIDAYS**

#### 22.01 PAID HOLIDAYS

(a) The office of the Union of BC Performers shall be closed on the following holidays without loss of pay to the employees:

New Year's Day Family Day Good Friday Easter Monday

Easter Monday Victoria Day BC Dav

Labour Day Canada Day Thanksgiving Day Remembrance Day

½ day Christmas Eve Day

Christmas Day Boxing Day

½ day New Year's Eve Day National Day for Truth and

Reconciliation

And any other day declared or proclaimed as a holiday by the Federal, Provincial or Municipal Government.

- (b) Employees will have, in addition, five (5) floating holidays exclusive of statutory holidays taken in consultation with the Employer.
- (c) In the expectation that many employees will choose to use these floating holidays to create a break between Christmas Day and New Year's Day, the local UBCP/ACTRA office may be closed and/or alternate arrangements may be made.

#### 22.02 COMPENSATION FOR WORK ON A PAID HOLIDAY

All work performed on a paid holiday will be paid in accordance with Article 21.02(c) or Article 21.04(f)(ii).

#### 22.03 PAID HOLIDAY ON A NON-WORKING DAY

Subject to agreement between the Employer and the employees, if a holiday as indicated in Article 22.01 falls on a day which is a non-working day, the first working day before or after shall be deemed a holiday without loss of pay to the employee.

# **ARTICLE 23 - VACATIONS**

## 23.01 VACATION GRANTED

- (a) Regular employees will be granted vacation with pay in accordance with Clause 23.02. Regular employees working less than thirty-five (35) hours per week shall have equivalent vacation time off.
- (b) Temporary and Casual employees shall be paid an additional four percent (4%) for vacation pay on each pay cheque.
- (c) Upon request, employees shall receive accrued vacation pay to be paid not less than seven (7) days prior to the commencement of vacation.
- (d) No vacation with pay shall be granted during the probationary period.
- (e) Vacations shall accrue to those employees on active employment and shall be taken on a seniority basis, where applicable, and by mutually agreed upon arrangement between the Employer and the employee concerned.

#### 23.02 LENGTH OF VACATIONS

Employees shall accrue the following vacation credits:

Years of Employment	Paid Days Per Annum		
1 to 3	15		
4 to 7	21		
8 to 11	25		
12 to 15	30		
16 years and over	35		

# 23.03 CARRY OVER OF VACATION ENTITLEMENT

Excluding employees with less than one (1) year of employment, all employees must take a minimum of two (2) weeks' vacation every year.

The annual vacation entitlement calculated pursuant to 23.02 is deposited in the paid time off system on the employee's seniority date anniversary. An employee may carry over vacation according to their entitlement noted in 23.02 as earned during the previous year of service. Additional carry over in excess of their entitlement will require special permission of the Employer or will otherwise be paid out no later than thirty (30) days after their seniority date anniversary.

#### 23.04 COMPENSATION FOR HOLIDAYS FALLING WITHIN ANNUAL VACATION SCHEDULE

Where a holiday listed above falls within the annual vacation leave period, the employee concerned is entitled to one (1) day's leave at the end of the annual vacation leave period.

# 23.05 VACATION ON A PAID HOLIDAY

An employee on vacation on a paid holiday is entitled to one (1) additional day off which will be scheduled as a lieu day or two (2) days' pay, the choice to be the employee's.

#### 23.06 VACATION PAY ON TERMINATION OR DEATH

Upon termination of employment, the employee will receive payment for unused annual leave accrued to the date of termination of employment, based on and payable on the schedule and method by which such accrued entitlement was acquired. In the event of an employee's death such payment will be paid to the estate.

#### 23.07 VACATION PAY ON RETIREMENT

On retirement, an employee will be entitled to the same vacation or vacation pay which would have been earned if the employee had continued in employment to the end of the calendar year. Retirement shall be defined as age sixty-five (65) and over, or when the combination of age and years of service adds up to at least seventy-five (75).

## 23.08 UNUSED VACATION ON DEATH

If an employee who has been granted more vacation that they have used dies, the employee is considered to have earned the amount of vacation with pay granted.

## 23.09 EARNED VACATION ON TERMINATION

When the employment of an employee who has been granted more vacation with pay than they have earned is terminated by lay-off, they are considered to have earned the amount of vacation with pay granted to them.

# 23.10 Working During Annual Vacation Period

No employee shall be required to perform work during their previously agreed annual vacation period. In extenuating circumstances, where an employee is assigned and agrees to perform work during their annual vacation, the employee will be paid at two times (2X) the pro-rata hourly rate for such work. All annual vacation cancelled due to the above shall be rescheduled at a time mutually agreed to between the employee and the Employer.

# 23.11 VACATION SCHEDULES

Vacation requests will be submitted no later than April 15<sup>th</sup> of each year for the period of May 1<sup>st</sup> to April 30<sup>th</sup>. Such requests will be granted in seniority order and confirmed and posted by May 1<sup>st</sup> of each year.

Vacation requests made after April 15<sup>th</sup> of each year will be granted on a first come, first served basis. The Employer will advise employees regarding their application for scheduled vacation within ten (10) working days of receipt of the application.

Once approved vacation schedules will not be changed without the consent of the affected employees.

#### 23.12 UNBROKEN VACATION PERIOD

An employee will receive an unbroken period of vacation unless mutually agreed upon between the employee and the Employer.

## 23.13 APPROVED LEAVE OF ABSENCE DURING VACATION

Where an employee qualifies for sick leave or bereavement, during their period of vacation and proof is provided for such leave, there will be no deduction from vacation credits for such absence. The period of vacation so displaced will either be added to the vacation period, provided the Employer is notified, or reinstated for use at a later date, in consultation with the Employer.

## **ARTICLE 24 – EDUCATION**

# 24.01 TRAINING COURSE ENTITLEMENT

All regular employees will be eligible for professional development and staff training activities where such activities are related to the enhancement of performance of duties for the Employer.

## 24.02 PAID EDUCATION LEAVE

- (a) The Employer agrees to pay into a special fund five cents (5¢) per hour per employee for all compensated hours. The purpose of such leave will be to upgrade employee skills in all aspects of trade union functions. Such monies will be paid on a quarterly basis into a trust fund established by the National Union, Unifor, and forwarded by the Employer to:
  - Unifor Paid Education Leave Program, 115 Gordon Baker Road, Toronto, Ontario M2H 0A8, effective from the date of ratification of this Agreement.
- (b) The Employer further agrees that members of the bargaining unit, selected by the Union to attend this program, will be granted leave of absence for twenty (20) days class time, plus travel time where necessary. Such leave of absence will be intermittent over a twelve (12) month period from the first (1st) day of leave. Employees will continue to accrue seniority and benefits during such leave.

#### 24.03 EDUCATION ON THE JOB

The Employer recognizes that education is a continuing process. Accordingly, the Employer will allow the Union upon request to sponsor education functions such as seminars, workshops, lectures, etc., to be held on the Employer's premises during the employees' lunch period or following the regular working day. Such requests will not be unreasonably denied.

#### 24.04 PAYMENT OF EDUCATIONAL FEES

Where an employee successfully completes an educational course, which is related to employment with UBCP/ACTRA, or is for the purpose of advancement within UBCP/ACTRA or is a course designed to foster personal development and, therefore, improve the ability of the employee to cope with the work demands:

- (a) The Employer will pay one hundred percent (100%) of all costs of tuition fees upon registration and pay all texts and other obligatory costs required for the course as needed. Prior to enrolment, the employee must receive approval from UBCP/ACTRA and, upon request, the employee must provide UBCP/ACTRA certification of successful completion of the course. The employee will be granted time off without loss of pay or benefits to attend approved courses.
- (b) Where the Employer requests that an employee obtains educational upgrading so that the employee can better function in their position, the employee and the Employer will mutually decide on course(s) related to the job function. The Employer will pay one hundred percent (100%) of tuition fees (upon registration), all texts and other obligatory costs required for the course(s) as needed. The employee will be granted time off without loss of pay or benefits to attend approved courses.
- (c) Where there is a bona-fide requirement that a Union Representative be aware of Health and Safety standards for onset visits, the employee will be granted time off without loss of pay or benefits to attend necessary courses. The Employer will pay one hundred percent (100%) of tuition fees (upon registration), all texts and other obligatory costs required for the course(s) as needed.
- (d) The Employer will authorize the employee to discuss the program or course with other employees at meetings scheduled during working hours.
- (e) Where such programs or courses are related to the performance of job duties at the workplace, the Employer will establish a collection of related written or visual materials, as agreed upon by the Employer and the Union.

# ARTICLE 25 - EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES

## 25.01 EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE

The Employer may grant an extended leave of absence without pay up to a maximum of four (4) calendar months. Such leave will not be unreasonably denied. The employee will continue to accrue seniority during approved leave of absence.

## 25.02 EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR UPGRADING

For the purpose of upgrading an individual's qualifications relating to their employment within UBCP/ACTRA, the Employer, may grant extended leave of absence for up to two (2) years. The employee will continue to accrue seniority during approved leave of absence.

# **ARTICLE 26 - MATERNITY, PARENTAL AND PATERNITY LEAVE**

## **26.01 Protection During Maternity**

- (a) Maternity is a right. Accordingly, no employee will be laid off or otherwise adversely affected in their employment because of pregnancy. The Employer will not deny the pregnant employee the right to continue employment during the period of pregnancy. Where working conditions may be hazardous to an unborn child or to the pregnant employee, the employee is entitled to transfer to another position, provided they are capable of performing the work and is otherwise entitled thereto by virtue of seniority.
- (b) For the purposes of this Article the term "unpaid" is not meant to exclude an employee's right to the Employer paid top-up as provided for in Clause 26.05 (Maternity/Parental Leave Allowance).

#### 26.02 MATERNITY LEAVE

- (a) A pregnant employee who requests leave under this Clause is entitled to up to seventeen (17) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave:
  - (i) beginning
    - (A) no earlier than thirteen (13) weeks before the expected birth date, and
    - (B) no later than the actual birth date, and
  - (ii) ending no later than seventeen (17) weeks after the leave begins.
- (b) An employee who requests leave under this clause after the birth of a child is entitled to up to seventeen (17) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning on the date of the birth and ending no later than seventeen (17) weeks after that date.

- (c) An employee is entitled to up to six (6) additional consecutive weeks of unpaid leave if, for reasons related to the birth, the employee is unable to return to work when the employee's leave ends under sub-clauses (a)(i) or (ii) above.
- (d) A request for leave must:
  - (i) be given in writing to the Employer;
  - (ii) if the request is made during the pregnancy, be given to the Employer at least four (4) weeks before the day the employee proposes to begin leave, and
  - (iii) if required by the Employer, be accompanied by a medical practitioner's certificate stating the expected or actual birth date or stating the reasons for requesting additional leave under Clause (c).
- (e) A request for a shorter period under sub-clause (a)(i)(A) must:
  - (i) be given in writing to the Employer at least one (1) week before the date the employee proposes to return to work, and
  - (ii) if required by the Employer, be accompanied by a medical practitioner's certificate stating the employee is able to resume work.

#### 26.03 PARENTAL LEAVE

- (a) An employee who requests parental leave under this clause is entitled to:
  - (i) for a birth parent who takes leave under Clause 26.02 in relation to the birth of the child or children with respect to whom the parental leave is to be taken, up to sixty-one (61) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning immediately after the end of the leave taken under Clause 26.02 unless the Employer and employee agree otherwise.
  - (ii) for a birth parent who does not take leave under Clause 26.02 in relation to the birth of the child or children with respect to whom the parental leave is to be taken, up to sixty-two (62) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning after the child's birth and within seventy-eight (78) weeks after that event;
  - (iii) for a non-birth parent, up to sixty-two (62) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning after the child's birth and within seventy-eight (78) weeks after that event, and
  - (iv) for an adopting parent, up to sixty-two (62) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning within seventy-eight (78) weeks after the child is placed with the parent.

- (b) If the child has physical, psychological or emotional conditions requiring an additional period of parental care, the employee is entitled to up to five (5) additional weeks of consecutive unpaid leave, beginning immediately after the end of the leave taken under Clause 26.03(a).
- (c) A request for leave must:
  - (i) be given in writing to the Employer;
  - (ii) if the request is for leave under Clause 26.03(a)(i) or (ii) be given to the Employer at least four (4) weeks before the employee proposes to begin leave, and
  - (iii) if required by the Employer, be accompanied by a medical practitioner's certificate of other evidence of the Employee's entitlement to leave.
- (d) An employee's combined entitlement to leave under Clause 26.02 and this Clause is limited to within seventy-eight (78) weeks plus any additional leave the employee is entitled to under Clause 26.02(c) and 26.03(b).

#### 26.04 SENIORITY STATUS DURING PARENTAL LEAVE

An employee on parental leave retains their full employment status and rights and accumulates all benefits under this Collective Agreement. If the employee elects to terminate employment with the Employer rather than return to work from such parental leave, the employee must refund to the Employer the amount of premiums paid during the period of parental leave.

# 26.05 MATERNITY/PARENTAL LEAVE ALLOWANCE

During the period of maternity/parental leave, a regular employee is entitled to a maternity/parental leave allowance as follows:

- (a) For the first two (2) weeks an employee shall receive no salary.
- (b) Employees will receive a lump sum payment equivalent to ninety-five percent (95%) of two (2) weeks salary; and
- (c) For up to a maximum of twenty-five (25) additional weeks:
  - the employee will receive payments equivalent to the difference between Employment Insurance Benefits (EI) the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three percent (93%) of their weekly rate of pay.
  - (ii) an employee who does not qualify for EI will receive payments equivalent to the difference between the existing statutory rate for EI benefits and ninety-three percent (93%) of their weekly rate of pay.

- (iii) employees who opt for extended parental leave, may receive their maternity/parental leave allowance, as noted above, to be distributed equally to a maximum of sixty-one (61) weeks.
- (d) The maternity/parental leave may commence at any time in one (1) consecutive period, between the sixth (6<sup>th</sup>) week before the expected birth week and twenty-seven (27) weeks after the actual birth.

#### 26.06 PATERNITY LEAVE

- (a) When an employee decides to return to work after parental leave, they must provide the Employer with at least thirty (30) days' notice
- (b) Parental or partner leave with pay will be granted for a period of five (5) days.

#### 26.07 DUTIES OF EMPLOYER

- (a) An Employer must give an employee who requests leave under Clauses 26.02 and 26.03 the leave in which the employee is entitled.
- (b) An Employer must not, because of an employee's pregnancy or a leave allowed by Clauses 26.02 and 26.03:
  - (i) terminate employment, or
  - (ii) change condition of employment without the employee's written consent.
- (c) As soon as the leave ends, the Employer must place the employee:
  - (i) in the position the employee held before taking leave under Clause 26.02 and/or Clause 26.03.
  - (ii) in a position of equal classification and rate of pay, if the original position no longer exists.
- (d) If the Employer's operations are suspended or discontinued when the leave ends, the Employer must, subject to the seniority provisions in this Collective Agreement, comply with Clause 26.07(c) as soon as operations are resumed.

# 26.08 EMPLOYMENT DEEMED CONTINUOUS WHILE EMPLOYEE ON LEAVE

- (a) The services of an employee who is on leave under Clauses 26.02 and/or 26.03 are deemed to be continuous for the purposes of:
  - (i) Calculating annual vacation entitlement and entitlement for individual or group severance pay, and
  - (ii) any pension, medical or other plan beneficial to the employee.

- (b) In the following circumstances, the Employer must continue to make payments to a pension, medical or other plan beneficial to an employee as though the employee were not on leave:
  - (i) if the Employer pays the total cost of the Plan;
  - (ii) if both the Employer and the employee pay the cost of the Plan and the employee chooses to continue to pay their share of the cost.
- (c) The employee is entitled to all increases in wages and benefits the employee would have been entitled to had the leave not been taken.
- (d) Clause 26.08(a) does not apply if the employee has, without the Employer's consent, taken a longer leave than is allowed under Clauses 26.02 and/or 26.03.

# **ARTICLE 27 - SPECIAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE**

#### 27.01 PAID COMPASSIONATE LEAVE

- (a) An employee will be granted compassionate leave without loss of pay or benefits of up to five (5) regularly scheduled consecutive work days, in the case of death or serious illness in the family. Where the funeral occurs outside the province, such leave also includes reasonable traveling time, not to exceed an additional two (2) work days.
- (b) In recognition of the fact that circumstances which call for bereavement leave are based on individual circumstances, the Employer, on request, may grant additional bereavement leave.

## 27.02 RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCE

Employees will be allowed reasonable time off with pay and without loss of seniority for observance of religious holidays of the employee's faith.

#### 27.03 SPECIAL LEAVES

Whenever possible, the employee will arrange appointments requiring absence from work at the beginning or end of the regular work day to minimize the absence. On request, employees may be required to show proof of the appointments. Employees will be allowed a total of up to thirty-eight and one-half (38.5) hours per year time off with pay and without loss of seniority when absent for the following reasons:

- (a) Medical and dental appointments including personal preventative medical health, dental and prenatal care, but exclusive of procedures for cosmetic enhancement;
- (b) Urgent personal business which must be attended to during working hours one (1) day per use. (For example, the need to leave work during the working

hours to attend to a broken water pipe at your place of residence would be considered urgent personal business. The subsequent scheduling of a plumber to make further repairs would not be considered urgent personal business.);

- (c) Household move one (1) day per use;
- (d) Employee's wedding or equivalent ceremony two (2) days per year;
- (e) Marriage of employee's child, brother or sister one (1) day per use;
- (f) Preventative medical leave, exclusive of procedures for cosmetic enhancement;
- (g) Court appearance involving employee's child up to three (3) days use;
- (h) Attend funeral as pall bearer one (1) day;
- (i) Attend funeral as mourner one-half (½) day.

# 27.04 TIME OFF FOR ELECTIONS

Employees will be allowed time off with pay before the closing of the polls in any federal, provincial, or municipal election or referendum consistent with the requirements of the election law applicable to that election or referendum.

## 27.05 PAID JURY OR COURT WITNESS DUTY LEAVE

The Employer will grant leave of absence without loss of seniority benefits to an employee who serves as juror or witness in any court or who is required by subpoena to attend a court of law or coroner's inquest. The Employer will pay such an employee the difference between normal earnings and the payment received for jury service or court witness, excluding payment for traveling, meals, or other expenses. The employee will present proof of service and the amount received. Time spent by an employee required to appear before any government body, or who is subpoenaed to attend a coroner's inquest or is required to serve as a court witness in any matter arising out of their employment will be considered as time worked at the appropriate rate of pay.

## 27.06 TRAVEL LIFE INSURANCE

Employees traveling on assignment or authorized to travel on Employer business will be covered by a blanket Travel Life Insurance Policy of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000.00) minimum. The cost of premiums will be paid by the Employer. A certificate outlining the benefits of the policy shall be issued to the employees concerned.

#### 27.07 GENERAL LEAVE

An employee may be entitled to a leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority when they submit a written request stating the reason(s) for the leave. Such request must be submitted to the Employer with sufficient time to make any necessary staffing adjustments and to consider the basis for approval. Approval will not be unreasonably denied.

#### 27.08 CAREGIVER LEAVE

- (a) The Employer agrees to grant an unpaid leave of absence of up to one (1) year to an employee who requests leave to attend to the needs of a seriously or terminally ill member of the family.
- (b) To demonstrate that a serious medical condition exists, the employee must provide a certificate from a medical practitioner stating that the family member has a serious medical condition with a significant risk of death.

#### 27.09 BANKING OF SALARY

After a regular employee has completed two (2) years of employment they may choose to work four (4) years at eighty percent (80%) of their salary and take a leave of absence for a one (1) year period. During the period of leave, the employee will continue to receive wages at the rate of eighty percent (80%) of their banked salary. All health care benefits will be maintained, and seniority and RRSP contribution will accrue.

## 27.10 PAID DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE

The Employer agrees to recognize that employees sometimes face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their employment. When the Employer determines that there is adequate verification from a recognized professional (e.g. doctor, lawyer, psychiatrist, or psychologist), an employee who is in an abusive or violent situation shall be granted five (5) paid days off as required to deal with the situation. When that time off is not covered by disability insurance, the employee will be permitted to use banked sick, lieu, or vacation time to cover such absences.

# **ARTICLE 28 - SICK LEAVE PROVISIONS**

#### 28.01 PAID SICK LEAVE DEFINED

Paid sick leave means the period of time a regular employee is absent from work with full pay by virtue of being sick or disabled, exposed to a contagious disease, under examination or treatment or mental health because of an accident for which compensation is not payable under the Workers' Compensation Act.

#### 28.02 SICK LEAVE REQUEST

An online sick leave request must be filed by the employee on each occurrence with the Employer. Failure to file such sick leave request may result in the deduction of pay for the period during which the employee was absent.

#### 28.03 PAID SICK LEAVE

- (a) Sick leave with pay and benefits will be granted by the Employer to any regular employee up to a maximum of fifteen (15) working days per year, and will accumulate up to a maximum of thirty (30) days in any three (3) year period. Sick leave is deposited in the paid time off system on the employee's seniority date anniversary.
- (b) In the case of the illness of an employee's dependent under the age of sixteen (16), an employee is entitled, after notifying their Employer, to up to eighteen (18) days total paid leave under this Article per annum, and will accumulate up to a maximum of forty (40) days in any three (3) year period.

#### 28.04 ILLNESS IN THE FAMILY

Where no one at home other than the employee can provide for the needs during illness of an immediate member of their family, an employee is entitled, after notifying their Employer, to a maximum of five (5) days of paid leave per year to care for the member of the family who is ill.

#### 28.05 REQUIREMENT OF MEDICAL CERTIFICATE

- (a) At the discretion of the Employer a medical certificate by a qualified physician or surgeon may be required for sick leave in excess of three (3) consecutive days duration.
- (b) Where an employee is absent from work for more than three (3) consecutive days or experiences recurring absences from work due to illness, injury or disability, in most cases, the medical information required by the Employer is whether the employee is fit or unfit, the nature of the limitations (e.g. no heavy lifting, no stair climbing, reduced hours etc.) and the expected duration of the limitations. However, the Employer, where reasonably required, may request further medical information in order to assess reasonable accommodation. Medical information shall be clear, current and credible.
- (c) Where there is a reasonable concern by the Employer, they may request a second medical opinion.
- (d) In the event that the Employer requires an employee to obtain medical documentation and/or to submit to an examination, any resulting reasonable and customary charge by the doctor which is not paid by the employee's medical insurance plan will be paid by the Employer.

# 28.06 WEEKLY INDEMNITY BENEFITS

It is agreed that an employee may choose to apply some or all of accumulated sick leave for weekly indemnity benefits or in lieu of such benefits without affecting eligibility for Weekly Indemnity Benefits.

#### 28.07 BENEFIT COVERAGE WHEN ON SICK LEAVE

When an employee goes off work due to any illness or injury, the Employer shall continue to provide benefit coverage and pay their Health and Welfare premiums.

#### 28.08 BENEFIT TERMINATION UPON NON-CULPABLE DISCHARGE

Prior to an employee being terminated for non-culpable absenteeism, the Employer will serve six (6) months' notice of termination during which time all employment benefits will continue.

# <u>ARTICLE 29 - HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT</u>

#### 29.01 TEMPERATURE OF BUILDING

The Employer shall provide and maintain a minimum of four (4) WCB approved thermometers in the workplace. Two (2) thermometers per floor, with one (1) thermometer per side, except as otherwise mutually agreed between the Employer and the Union.

## 29.02 WORKPLACE SAFETY

The Employer and Union jointly agree to establish proper health and safety practices in order to provide the employees with a safe and healthy work environment. Employees have the right to refuse to perform any unsafe work in accordance with WCB regulations.

#### 29.03 EMPLOYER'S RESPONSIBILITY

The Employer acknowledges its responsibility to make all reasonable provisions for the maintenance of high standards of health and safety in the workplace, including a properly heated, ventilated, lighted and ergonomically monitored working environment that is as free as possible from pollution.

#### 29.04 ILLNESS/INJURY AT WORK

An employee who is injured or falls ill while at work and is required to leave for treatment or is sent home as a result of such injury or illness will receive payment for the remainder of their work day at their regular rate of pay without reduction of sick leave. The Employer shall bear the costs of any necessary transportation.

# 29.05 JOINT HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEE

A Joint Health and Safety Committee will be established consisting of two (2) members selected by the Union and two (2) members selected by the Employer. With respect to the Health and Safety program, the Committee will jointly consider, monitor, inspect, investigate and/or review health and safety conditions and practices.

#### 29.06 No Smoking Policy

The Employer will maintain a "NO SMOKING" policy within the workplace.

#### 29.07 SMOKING CESSATION COURSE

Subject to prior approval by the Employer, the Employer will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of a smoking cessation course within thirty (30) days of completion of the course. If the employee resumes smoking within one (1) year, they will refund to the Employer the cost incurred.

#### 29.08 COMPUTER MONITORS

Employees who are required to regularly work directly with computer monitors shall do so under the following conditions:

- (a) Employees are entitled to have their eyes examined once (1X) per calendar year by an ophthalmologist of the employee's choice at no cost to the employee.
- (b) The Employer will cover costs of such tests where they are not covered by MSP insurance benefits provided under this contract.
- (c) Employees who operate computer monitors on an ongoing basis are entitled to a ten (10) minute break after each hour of continuous operation.
- (d) The Joint Health and Safety Committee will investigate health concerns regarding computer monitors.

## 29.09 LUNCH AND RESTROOM FACILITIES

The Employer will provide a furnished lunchroom and wheelchair accessible restroom facilities.

# **ARTICLE 30 - PAYMENT OF WAGES**

#### 30.01 PAY PERIOD

Employees will be paid every two (2) weeks. Payment will be made on the basis of twenty-six (26) pay periods in each calendar year, and will be made not later than the Monday following the Friday week-end. The pay period will be the regular work week from Monday to Friday inclusive.

#### 30.02 RATES OF PAY

- (a) All Employees will be paid in accordance with the rates of pay negotiated by the parties to this Agreement.
- (b) Appendix "A", Classifications and Rates of Pay, is hereby incorporated into this Agreement.
- (c) For the purposes of this Agreement, the terms "rates of pay" and "salary" are used interchangeably.
- (d) Where Employees are assigned in writing by the Employer to train Employees in a different job classification than they currently hold, they shall be paid a training premium of twenty dollars (\$20.00) per half-day. For clarity, this does not apply when an Employee is required to train their replacement.

#### 30.03 RATE OF PAY FOR A TEMPORARY INCREASE IN RESPONSIBILITIES.

Where an employee is temporarily assigned by the Employer, the responsibilities of a co-worker in a higher rated category for more than one (1) day and where such assumption is not part of the regular function of such individual, the employee will receive an immediate and temporary salary review, to compensate for the additional responsibilities, but which in no case will be less than forty dollars (\$40.00) per day. Such rate shall be retroactive, and include the first day worked in the higher rated category.

#### 30.04 PAY ON TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT

An employee temporarily assigned by the Employer to a position with a rate of pay lower than their regular rate of pay will maintain their regular rate of pay.

# **ARTICLE 31- PAYMENT OF ALLOWANCES**

## 31.01 EMPLOYEE EXPENSES

- (a) An employee performing duties on behalf of the Employer will be paid or reimbursed as follows upon filing of the proper forms and expense accounts and required receipts:
  - (i) Travel to and from an assignment using economy fare by air and first-class fare by rail;
  - (ii) Where travel requiring an employee to be on assignment on Vancouver Island, or be away from home overnight, or perform duties outside of regular working hours and where a meal is required, the following will apply:

Breakfast \$15.00 Lunch \$25.00 Dinner \$40.00

- (iii) A gratuity allowance of twelve dollars (\$12.00) per day will be paid on out-of-town assignments;
- (iv) Where authorized, hotel accommodation not including personal expenses;
- (v) Legitimate dry-cleaning costs where travel is for more than four (4) consecutive days;
- (vi) A telephone call home for each day of overnight travel to a maximum of ten dollars (\$10.00) per day;
- (vii) Pre-authorized child care expenses incurred by employees for work outside of the employee's scheduled hours and where no reasonable alternative is available to the employees.
- (b) Expenses will be paid in United States dollars for travel to the United States.
- (c) The Employer has an obligation to help ensure the safety of its employees. The Employer will reimburse the cost of taxis when an employee is assigned to work outside of regular hours and where the physical location of the work requires such a measure.
- (d) The Employer will provide any special clothing required to complete a stewarding assignment including, but not limited to, steel-toe boots, rubber boots, rain gear and hard hats.
- (e) The Employer will supply cellular telephones to servicing staff employees and at its sole discretion may supply cellular telephones to other employees. All employees using an Employer-supplied cellular telephone will reimburse the Employer for personal usage.

#### 31.02 CAR ALLOWANCES

- (a) At the Employer's discretion, possession of an automobile is a condition of employment for Union Representatives, the Communications Officer and the Organizer.
- (b) Employees who are required to have a car as a condition of employment will receive a car allowance of four hundred and twenty-five (\$425.00) per month plus twenty dollars (\$20.00) per day for each day on which they use the car on the Employer's business effective the date of ratification. For the purpose of this clause, "Employer's business" means set visits or other use as authorized by the Employer.
- (c) An employee not covered under (b) above will be paid fifty-four cents (\$.54) per kilometre for use of their personal automobile on the Employer's business.

- (d) An employee not covered under (b) above will be paid home-to-home mileage only when the employee is required to attend to the Employer's business (i.e., meetings and other Employer functions).
- (e) It is the employee's obligation to ensure that they have complied with regulations of the Canada Revenue Agency respecting car allowances.
- (f) Free parking spaces will be provided at the UBCP/ACTRA offices to those employees who are required to have an automobile as a condition of employment. Servicing Staff who are not required to have a vehicle as a condition of employment but who, at the request of the Employer, make their cars available shall be provided with a free parking spot.

Where the Employer determines that an employee no longer requires possession of an automobile, it will provide the employee with six (6) months' notice in writing of the change in requirement. An employee occupying a temporary vacancy is not entitled to notice under this clause.

# 31.03 PROFESSIONAL FEES AND LICENSES

The Employer will pay professional and/or license fees for an employee who, as a condition of employment, is required to be a member of a professional association or be licensed.

#### 31.04 LEGAL FEES

The Employer will pay all legal and court costs as well as judgment costs, if any, for any action or other proceeding initiated against an employee by virtue of the performance or non-performance of their employment duties as directed by the Employer.

# **ARTICLE 32 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS**

## 32.01 TEMPORARY AND CASUAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Temporary and casual employees will be paid an additional eight-point five percent (8.5%) in lieu of all health and welfare benefits provided under this Collective Agreement.

# 32.02 INSURANCE PLAN

All regular Employees and their dependents will be covered by the benefits negotiated with exception of customary CRA or insurance industry exclusions between the Employer and the Union, which includes care in convalescent homes. The Employer shall pay for one hundred percent (100%) of the premiums.

#### 32.03 RETIREMENT PLAN

- (a) All regular employees represented by the Unifor Local 3000 will be enrolled in the UBCP/ACTRA designated or AFBS Plan, as chosen by the employee, as of the first day of employment or as revised from time to time.
- (b) Such employees shall contribute an amount equal to two percent (2%) of the employee's gross earnings to the Plan, and the Employer will contribute an amount equal to nine percent (9%) of the employee's gross earnings for the Retirement Benefit to the Plan. Employees may make additional contributions within the limitation defined in the Income Tax Act.
- (c) The Employer will match additional voluntary contributions made by employees with seven (7) or more years of service subject to a ceiling of four percent (4%) of gross annual salary or the yearly legal maximum RRSP contribution.
- (d) The Employer will provide employees with details of the RRSP investment portfolio from the ACTRA Fraternal Benefit Society or the UBCP/ACTRA designated RRSP Plan. The Employer will endeavour to have a staff member appointed to the Board of Directors of ACTRA Fraternal Benefit Society.
- (e) RRSP contributions and deductions will be remitted to the employees' individual plan on the first business day following each pay period.

#### 32.04 HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL PLAN

The Employer will pay the premium of all regular employees and their dependents for the appropriate hospital and Medicare plans in the province in which the employee resides or is on permanent assignment, subject to any regulation by the government sponsored plan concerned.

#### 32.05 INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBLE BENEFIT CREDIT

The Employer shall pay one thousand dollars (\$1000) per year as a credit to each employee for their Individual Flexible Benefit Credit.

The Individual Flexible Benefit Credit will provide flexibility to augment the existing benefit plan to suit the needs of each individual member of the bargaining unit. Each employee will have the flexibility to utilize their one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) credit on a "dollar for dollar" basis to add value and diversity to their benefit plan, where the individual feels the need may arise.

# **ARTICLE 33 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE**

## 33.01 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

Any change in method of operation will only be made following ninety (90) days' notice to the Union and shall not be implemented without prior consultation with the Union.

# **ARTICLE 34 - GENERAL CONDITIONS**

#### 34.01 LETTER OF REFERENCE

On termination of employment for any reason, and at the terminating employee's request, the Employer shall provide a letter of reference on request.

## 34.02 SOCIAL JUSTICE FUND

- (a) A Social Justice Fund is to be set up. The purpose of this fund would be to provide financial assistance to such entities as food banks, registered Canadian charities, and international relief measures to assist the innocent victims of droughts, famines and other dislocations.
- (b) Subject to the following conditions, the Employer will make quarterly contributions to such a fund equal to one cent (\$0.01) for each straight time hour worked for a thirteen (13) week period.
- (c) The Employer will make these quarterly payments provided that:
  - (i) The Union maintains the fund as a non-profit corporation under the Canada Corporations Act and ensures that all necessary steps are taken to maintain the corporation in proper legal standing and that all requirements of the Act are met.
  - (ii) The Union maintains the registration of the non-profit corporation under the Income Tax Act of Canada in good standing.
  - (iii) The Union maintains a favourable Income Tax Ruling from the Canada Revenue Agency that all contributions which the Employer makes to the non-profit corporation are tax deductible.
  - (iv) The Union provides the Employer with annual audited financial statements of and summaries of each year's donations made by the non-profit corporation.
  - (v) The objects, by-laws and resolutions of this non-profit corporation should limit it to making the following types of financial contributions:
    - (A) contributions to other Canadian non-partisan charities that are registered under the Income Tax Act;
    - (B) contributions to non-partisan international relief efforts that are recognized by the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA), or any successor body that performs like functions;
    - (C) contributions to any Canadian or international non-partisan efforts to which other Canadian charities that are registered under the Income Tax Act are also making contributions:

(D) contributions to any non-governmental and non-partisan development group recognized by CIDA and registered as a charity under the Income Tax Act.

# **ARTICLE 35 - PRESENT CONDITIONS AND BENEFITS**

## 35.01 PRESENT CONDITIONS TO CONTINUE

All rights, benefits, privileges, customs, practices and working conditions which employees now enjoy, receive or possess will continue, insofar as they are consistent with this Agreement, unless modified by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

# 35.02 CONTINUATION OF ACQUIRED RIGHTS

All provisions of this Agreement are subject to applicable laws now or hereafter in effect. If any law now existing or hereafter enacted, or proclamation or regulation invalidates or disallows any portion of this Agreement, the Agreement is not invalidated and the existing rights, privileges and obligations of the parties remain in existence. In such an event this Agreement will be re-opened for negotiation. If there is no agreement between the parties at this time, the matter will be resolved by arbitration.

# **ARTICLE 36 - PRINTING OF THE AGREEMENT**

#### 36.01 PRINTING OF THE AGREEMENT

The Employer agrees to pay for the cost of sufficient copies of the Collective Agreement for each bargaining unit member.

# **ARTICLE 37 - TERMS OF AGREEMENT**

#### 37.01 DURATION

- (a) This Agreement is binding and remains in effect from October 1st, 2021 to September 30th, 2024 and will continue from year to year thereafter, subject to the right of either party to this Agreement within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration (or immediately preceding the anniversary date in any year thereafter), by written notice to the other party, require the other party to commence collective bargaining. Within ten (10) working days of receipt of such notice by one party, the other party is required to enter into negotiations with a view to the conclusion of a renewal or revision of the Collective Agreement, or a new collective agreement.
- (b) Where such notice requests revision only, the notice must state specifically the revision requested and bargaining negotiations shall be restricted thereto, unless the parties otherwise mutually agree.

- (c) Should either party give written notice to the other party pursuant hereto, this Agreement shall thereafter continue in full force and effect until the Union gives notice of strike and a strike has been implemented or the Employer shall give notice of lockout and a lockout has been implemented, or the parties shall conclude a renewal or revision of the Agreement of a new collect.
- (d) The operation of Section 50 (2) (3) of the British Columbia Labour Relations Code is hereby excluded.

## 37.02 RETROACTIVE PAY FOR TERMINATED EMPLOYEES

An employee who has severed their employment between the termination date of this Agreement and the effective date of the new Agreement must, on written application, receive the full retroactivity of any increase in wages, salaries or other prerequisites.

#### 37.03 RETROACTIVITY

All changes in the new Agreement will be adjusted retroactively unless specified herein.

Signed this day of	<u>,</u> <u>2021</u> .
FOR THE COMPANY: UBCP/ACTRA	FOR THE UNION: Unifor Local 3000
	Mu
Lesley Brady Director of Contracts	Michael Cheevers Committee Member
Eleph	Manne
Ellie Harvie President	Max Bygraves Committee Member
Connie Brown Director of Finances	Meagan Synnett Committee Member
	Aumm_
	Ellen-Marie Moreira Local Staff Representative
	D
	Ben Williams National Representative

# **APPENDIX A - WAGE RATES**

	Τ	Oat 1 0001	0-4 4 0000	0-4-1-0000
Classification	Current	Oct. 1, 2021 3%	Oct. 1,2022 3%	Oct. 1,2023
Senior Business Agent	\$126,948.34	\$130,756.79	\$134,679.49	\$138,719.87
Business Agent - Film & Television	\$105,285.86	\$108,444.43	\$111,697.76	\$115,048.69
Business Agent - Residuals	\$105,285.86	\$108,444.43	\$111,697.76	\$115,048.69
Organizer (IRO)	\$102,645.30	\$105,724.65	\$108,896.38	\$112,163.27
Union Representative - Film & Television &/Or Commercial	\$91,594.07	\$94,341.89	\$97,172.15	\$100,087.31
Union Representative / Membership Development	\$91,594.07	\$94,341.89	\$97,172.15	\$100,087.31
Researcher and Special Projects Manager	\$91,594.07	\$94,341.89	\$97,172.15	\$100,087.31
Residuals and Use Fees Administrator	\$91,594.07	\$94,341.89	\$97,172.15	\$100,087.31
Communications Officer	\$91,594.07	\$94,341.89	\$97,172.15	\$100,087.31
Collective Agreement Administrator	\$91,594.07	\$94,341.89	\$97,172.15	\$100,087.31
Member Services Coordinator	\$91,594.07	\$94,341.89	\$97,172.15	\$100,087.31
Bookkeeper	\$81,612.34	\$84,060.71	\$86,582.53	\$89,180.01
Benefits Coordinator	\$79,871.45	\$82,267.59	\$84,735.62	\$87,277.69
Office Coordinator	\$78,125.50	\$80,469.27	\$82,883.34	\$85,369.84
Member Services Administrator	\$71,574.88	\$73,722.13	\$75,933.79	\$78,211.80
Assistant Steward - Film & Television	\$71,574.88	\$73,722.13	\$75,933.79	\$78,211.80
Assistant Steward – Commercial Dept.	\$71,574.88	\$73,722.13	\$75,933.79	\$78,211.80
Assistant Steward – Residuals & Use Fees	\$71,574.88	\$73,722.13	\$75,933.79	\$78,211.80
Assistant Steward / Waiver Administrator – Film & Tel.	\$71,574.88	\$73,722.13	\$75,933.79	\$78,211.80
Assistant Steward - Finance	\$71,574.88	\$73,722.13	\$75,933.79	\$78,211.80
Administrative Assistant	\$57,578.01	\$59,305.35	\$61,084.51	\$62,917.05
Receptionist	\$57,578.01	\$59,305.35	\$61,084.51	\$62,917.05
Office Assistant	\$57,578.01	\$59,305.35	\$61,084.51	\$62,917.05
Office Support	\$25.95	\$26.73	\$27.53	\$28.36

# **APPENDIX B - JOB CLASSIFICATIONS**

## **SENIOR BUSINESS AGENT**

- Directs all matters related to the BCMPA and Animation Agreements
- Provides assistance on the interpretation and enforcement of matters relating to Residuals and the NCA.
- Develops and/or assists in developing Collective Bargaining strategies and recommends objectives, policies and scheduling of implementation to Executive Board.
- Participates in the negotiation, direction and supervision of Feature Film, Television Movies-of-the-Week, Series Television, Commercial and Animation Collective Agreements for the Union.
- Develops and/or assists in developing and maintaining Master Collective Agreements.
- Shares in implementing Executive Board directions and policies.
- Enforces and interprets Collective Agreements.
- Participates in weekly management meetings.
- Oversees all Film and TV employees.
- Liaises with Producers, Engagers and Production Managers on collective bargaining issues.
- Maintains direct communications and relations with Film Industry officials and agents.
- Maintains supportive relations and communications with other Unions.
- Participates in maintaining supportive and positive government relations including the B.C. Ministry of Labour, the Labour Relations Board and with various Ministry Officers, in addition to Federal, Provincial and Municipal Government lobbying.
- Undertakes short and long-range planning, research and development activity for marketing Member employment opportunities in new and existing categories. Develops, plans and implements Use Fee and residual collection systems in conjunction with the Residuals employees.
- Maintains positive relations and communications with Membership and Membership subgroups and committees including Stunt Performers, Animation Performers, Background Performers and various performance specialties to enhance employment.
- Prepares, writes and presents Production Reports at Membership Meetings.
- Co-ordinates Collective Agreement and contract approvals, ratifications, filings and implementations.
- Participates in Film Industry functions and events as directed by the Employer.
- Does not participate in final hiring or final discipline decisions.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

# **BUSINESS AGENT, FILM & TELEVISION & NEW MEDIA**

- Is the first point of contact between the Union and producers commencing a film and television production in the Union's jurisdiction.
- Continues to liaise with producers and the Union throughout the production process, as needed.
- Coordinates the OSLO (On-Set Liaison Officer) program which includes member participation.
- Answers inquiries from staff and industry production relevant to enforcement and interpretation of the film and television collective agreements.
- Assists in organizing unorganized productions as needed.
- Participates in throughout the collective bargaining process, including but not limited to, preparation, developing collective bargaining strategies and implementation and coordination of necessary changes arising from successful proposals achieved through bargaining initiatives.
- Participates in day-to-day negotiations with production and provides policy interpretation information for Feature Film, Television Movies-of-the-Week, Series Television and other negotiated collective agreements on behalf of the Union to resolve production-related issues that enhance members' day-to-day working provisions.
- Enforces and interprets collective agreements.
- Provides support to the most senior Management person in the department or the Management designate to achieve the organization's overall goals and the objectives.
- Maintains direct communication and relations with film industry stakeholders as directed.
- Maintains positive relations and communications with various membership constituencies and other membership sub-groups and performance specialty categories to assist in collective bargaining strategies and further employment opportunities for performers (such as preference of engagement, proper casting process, etc.).
- Preparation of reports for relevant internal and external meetings.
- Participates in film industry functions and events as requested by the Employer.
- Attends membership meetings, as required.
- Participates in committees, as required.
- Performs other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.

# BACKGROUND PERFORMER REPRESENTATIVE - FILM, TELEVISION & NEW MEDIA

- Responds to queries from performers working as Background Performers, including but not limited to upgrade requests.
- Responsible for investigating upgrade requests, including communication with production personnel, performers, agents, committees and others as required.
- Responsible for following up with production regarding any claims up to and including the filing of grievances.
- Prepares any documentation or communication of grievance and in preparation for arbitration.
- Maintains communication with performers regarding the status of their claim.
- Responsible for enforcement of the Daily List of Background Performers.
- Maintains accurate and complete files relative to their activities, including consolidated reports and stats.
- Assists in developing education programs for members who work as Background Performers.
- Provides reports and updates to Management as required and as directed.
- Advises members regarding policies and collective agreements of UBCP/ACTRA.
- Assists in mail-outs.
- Attends membership meetings as required, including Background Performer Committee meetings.
- Performs other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

#### **BUSINESS AGENT - RESIDUALS**

- Assists Branch and National management with all facets of the collection of fees outstanding to Performers by advancing such claims with producers or distributors.
   Included in these fees would be unpaid royalties/residual fees, administration fees, insurance and retirement contributions, etc.
- Coordinates all activities of the Residuals and Use Fee Administrators and Assistant Stewards – Residuals, in order to maintain department.
- Develops, plans and implements film and television residual and royalty's collection systems.
- Provides the studios and larger companies with a comprehensive summary of overall Use Fee reporting obligations and/or discrepancies to ensure compliance and provides followup, as required.
- Participates in committee meetings or bargaining, as required.
- Maintains supportive relations and communications with other union and industry partners to promote the goals and objectives of the organization.
- Prepares claims for legal action, arbitration or grievance when other methods of collection have failed.
- Liaises with computer programmers on database issues for residuals.
- Liaises with ACTRA PRS and SAG AFTRA on joint residuals issues.
- Liaises with Director of Finance with regard to tax issues involving collection of residuals.
- Works in cooperation with the National Council of ACTRA, Branch staff and other performer and professional unions as required.
- Attends membership meetings, as required.
- Other related duties and projects generally considered to be within the job category.

# **ORGANIZER (INDUSTRY RELATIONS OFFICER)**

- Seeks out, identifies, converts and certifies all non-union production as directed by the Employer.
- Maintains positive and supportive relationships with Members and industry insiders influential in productions and having access to vital organizing information and support.
- Cultivates positive working relationships with Talent Agents, Casting Directors and representatives of film industry talent to facilitate support of organizing efforts.
- Educates Members, Apprentices and other performers about the Union, their rights and the Employment Standards and Labour Relations Board support of their contracted rights, conditions, minimum terms, rates and Use Fee entitlements.
- Monitors Producers and productions filming in the jurisdiction including Feature Films, Television Movies, Series, Commercials, Animation and Voice/Radio Productions under union jurisdiction to ensure union contracts are in place and the terms are complied with.
- Serves as a scrutineer of votes that are held regarding certifications.
- Assists in the maintenance of files for applications for certifications as required.
- Attends Labour Relations Board hearings related to organizing.
- Organizes performers on and off set(s) for the purpose of ratifications of votes held on applications for certifications.
- Assists in organizing meetings of performers for organizing purposes.
- Liaises with the Membership Services Coordinator regarding the expansion, recruiting and organizing of the Apprentice Membership.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

# UNION REPRESENTATIVE - FILM & TELEVISION &/OR COMMERCIAL

- Responds to queries from members, producers, casting directors, agents and others respecting collective agreement interpretation, application and administration.
- Enforces all terms of and compliance with collective agreements.
- Investigates, prepares, presents grievances and, where directed, arbitrations and negotiates grievance and arbitration settlements.
- Visit production sets to increase membership awareness of the role of UBCP/ACTRA and to assist in education of producers and their agents with respect to UBCP/ACTRA and its Collective Agreements.
- Visits production sets to monitor and verify Collective Agreement compliance.
- Introduces non-members to UBCP/ACTRA and its apprenticeship programs through on set visits and otherwise.
- Undertakes organizing and assists in organizing as directed.
- Maintains accurate and complete files relative to representative's activities.
- Provides reports and updates to Management as required and as directed.
- Provides suggestions, submissions, information and support to bargaining committees and participates on bargaining committees as required.
- Provides information and support to other staff.
- Ensures examination of production records for discrepancies.
- Reads scripts to anticipate enforcement issues and reviews foreign work permits from an informed perspective.
- Contacts Producer with letter and otherwise to establish UBCP/ACTRA role and relationship to the Production.
- Obtains and files documents required from Production (e.g., script, cast list, crew list, D.O.D.'s, etc.).
- Acquires, reviews, obtains authorization and processes work permits for foreign performers.
- Enforces compliance with all producer pre-production obligations.
- Ensures that all production documents have been received and filed.
- Enforces remittance compliance to performers, to UBCP/ACTRA and to union trusts.
- Responds to enquiries from engagers regarding application of UBCP/ACTRA/ACTRA agreements and assists engagers in formulating production budgets.
- Advises members regarding policies and collective agreements of UBCP/ACTRA.
- Assists in mail outs.
- Attends membership meetings as required.
- Performs other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

# UNION REPRESENTATIVE - MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT

- Organizes showcases, scene studies, workshops, and other related developmental seminars for the Membership including all materials required for each seminar.
- Teaches Accent Classes to Members on an ongoing basis.
- Maintains all "blue books" and computer data base of individual members, for agent reference as well as ensuring all materials are up to date and accurate.
- Provides "blue books" to extras casting directors and ensures their availability to production companies when required.
- Provides Members' names to casting directors and extra casting directors when required.
- Provides extra casting, hiring of Union Members, when required.
- Maintains Sunday Hot Line for Members seeking work opportunities.
- Communicates with Members on developmental issues.
- Communicates with Non-members on guidance or direction in the film industry (e.g. agent lists, etc.).
- Distributes all call sheets to Union Representatives.
- Reports to Employer on breakdown of performers on each production (Member/non-Member, foreign, categories, etc.).
- Reviews Extra Performers Sheets to ensure Union quota per Collective Agreements, as submitted daily by extra Casting Directors.
- Creates and maintains photo display for reception area and studio.
- Maintains video suite service for Members.
- Assists with mail outs, as required.
- Attends and assists with Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to Employer.

#### RESEARCHER AND SPECIAL PROJECTS MANAGER

Undertakes in-depth, detailed industry and corporate research and statistical analysis to support internal and external operations on all aspects of the Unions collective bargaining strategies, and collates research into clearly written reports and executive summaries.

Undertakes and coordinates special projects independently, through consultants or with industry partners with an eye to furthering the goals and objectives of the Union. The Researcher and Special Projects Manager will play a pivotal role in formulating and/or prioritizing confidential Union proposals and initiatives.

# Position Responsibilities:

- Provide research to support the Union's collective bargaining/negotiations, agreement administration, and overall organizational objectives.
- Analyze, interpret, and create statistical and informational data.
- Present analyses and conclusions with clarity and precision in verbal, written and graphic form.
- Adapt statistical techniques to address research objectives.
- Develop, maintain and/or revise forms, methods and procedures for internal data capture and analysis.
- Assist the senior Management team in the implementation of strategic planning initiatives.
- Compile for the senior Management team information necessary to inform collective bargaining with the staff union (Unifor).
- Consult with senior Management to establish a research budget and to ensure that budget guidelines are met and budget variances are supported.
- Follow complex oral and written instructions.
- Work independently without supervision.
- Coordinate internal research projects.
- Create and maintain relationships with membership, staff and external industry partners to facilitate research and education initiatives.
- Attend Membership Meetings as required.
- Assist in mail outs as required.
- Perform other related work as assigned.

#### Requirements:

- Strong analytical and problem-solving skills.
- Excellent written and verbal communication skills
- Strong presentation and public speaking skills.
- Excellent organizational skills.

## Collective Agreement between UBCP/ACTRA and Unifor Local 3000

- Ability to analyze, interpret, collate and create statistical and informational data.
- Ability to write concise and detailed reports including summary tables, graphs, charts and explanatory texts based on tabulated data and analyses.
- Strong knowledge of mathematical and statistical methods, such as statistical data sampling, and their application to the analysis and evaluation of industry data.
- Ability to source, develop and interpret information to validate recommendations and action plans.
- Strong knowledge of the common sources of statistical information, methods of securing such information and statistical research techniques.
- Ability to work with internal and external industry partners in order to achieve set objectives.
- Proven ability to work independently or within a variety of group settings of varying sizes and still manage and meet timelines.
- Proficiency in statistical and database software.
- Advanced proficiency in Access.
- Advance Proficiency in Microsoft Word, Excel, and Power Point.
- Advanced knowledge in dealing with contracts and collective agreements.
- Advanced understanding of the film and television industry.
- Ability to work well under pressure and to oversee the completion of multiple projects.
- Ability to work both autonomously and within a team setting.
- Reports to the Employer.

# RESIDUALS AND USE FEES ADMINISTRATOR

- Develops, plans and implements film and television residual and royalties collection systems.
- Liaises with the Employer regarding policy issues that affect residuals in terms of collective bargaining.
- Monitors and maintains database records regarding residuals for productions.
- Maintains filing system for all residuals payments and information.
- Tracks use of film and television productions and recommends improved tracking methods for the Union to implement.
- Ensures performers' residual records in database are accurate by cross-referencing against pay remittances and inputting this information into computer system.
- Pursues collection of residuals payments from companies, including the filing of grievances.
- Ensures companies comply with residual payment terms of the Collective Agreement.
- Responsible for the distribution of residuals payments to performers, including overseeing the mail-out of residual cheques.
- Liaises with the Employer and computer programmers regarding programming of residuals database.
- Provides interpretation to producers and performers regarding the residuals/royalties section of the Collective Agreement.
- Liaises with the Employer regarding the collection of GST on residuals and other tax issues that affect residuals collection.
- Maintains "In Search Of" list of performers and works with the Communications Officer regarding upkeep of current list in the Union's publications and on the website.
- Assists Union Representatives with questions and problems regarding Use Fees issues.
- Attends negotiations for collective agreements as required.
- Liaises with ACTRA Performers' Rights Society (APRS) and the Screen Actors Guild (SAG-AFTRA) regarding residuals issues.
- Assists in mail outs as required.
- Assists in membership meetings as required.
- Other duties as assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

### **COMMUNICATIONS OFFICER**

- Organizes, writes, edits and otherwise produces in-house, union publications.
- Assists in the design of and implements an ongoing communications program from the Union to its membership.
- Plans, organizes, designs and recommends material for membership education.
- Suggests, promotes, plans and coordinates events for the Union and its members.
- Undertakes assignments related to the Union's web site and member database.
- Assists in media relations, including drafting press releases, liaising with media, government, employers and other labour organizations.
- Assembles, produces and compiles research data and statistics on membership employment and factors affecting membership employment.
- Organizes and assists in mail outs.
- Attends membership meetings.
- Performers other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to Employer.

### COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT ADMINISTRATOR

- Responds to queries from members, casting directors, agents, and others respecting collective agreement interpretation, application and administration.
- Assists in writing Collective Agreements.
- Ensures maintenance of files for Master Collective Agreement and Letters of Modification.
- Writes Letters of Modification.
- Ensures that collective agreements, bonds and letters of guarantee are in place for each production.
- Attends meetings of union bargaining committees and as directed, participates in and supports union's collective and other bargaining initiatives.
- Coordinates activities of collective bargaining committees.
- Chairs divisional and departmental staff meetings as directed.
- Assists engagers in budget formulation.
- Assists Union Representatives and Assistant Union Representatives with questions and problems involving the Collective Agreements, with particular focus on security agreements.
- Supports Business Agent in direct communications with industry officials and agents.
- Supports Business Agent in planning, research and development activity.
- Ensures development of a registration system.
- Oversees non-resident work permits for non-union productions.
- Assists in organizing or acts as an organizer as directed.
- Ensures that production information is entered into MFTS.
- Accompanies Business Agent and/or Union Representatives on meetings with talent and with producers as required.
- Undertakes set visits.
- Works with producers and performers to ensure that all requirements for a production waiver are met and produces or monitors production of necessary follow-up documents.
- Promotes development of independent Vancouver film community as directed.
- Files material at LRB and attends LRB and arbitration hearings as necessary.
- Participates in film industry events as directed.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Performs other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

Clause 30.03 applies to this position. UBCP/ACTRA and Unifor will review its application, as circumstances require.

### **MEMBER SERVICES COORDINATOR**

- Coordinates the activities of the Member Services Department as noted below but not limited to the following:
- Recommends, organizes and coordinates workshops and other developmental seminars through the Member Services Department under the direction of the Employer.
- Provide assistance to members and non-members who seek to address concerns on Union related services or Union related responsibilities with respect to their work.
- Provide names of members who have indicated their availability for work to casting directors and/or extras casting agents as required.
- Liaison between members, new members and the Membership Committee in order to coordinate the necessary background information required for membership decisions and recommendations to Management and/or the Executive Board.
- Responsible for providing reports on membership related issues as required, including statistical data on Union membership.
- Supplies appropriate documentation to members, non-members and new members for the purpose of Union orientations such as but not limited to: UBCP/ACTRA and ACTRA By-laws, ACTRA Constitution, AFBS and MBT benefits documentation materials.
- Maintaining up-to-date and accurate performer profile details for administrative purposes such as dues and membership status. Ensures this is done in conjunction with the local ACTRA Branches and ACTRA's national office.
- Assists with mail outs as required.
- Attends membership meetings as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

#### BOOKKEEPER

Under the direction of the Director of Finance:

- Performs general daily accounting functions.
- Records and processes all accounts payable for all related Union and Trust accounts.
- Assists in payroll processing for Staff and Executives including all year-end requirements (T4/T4A/NR4).
- Posts, balances, and reconciles general ledger accounts.
- Prepares monthly reports to assist in the preparation of monthly financial statements or reports as requested.
- Assists in the analyses of member financial tracking databases for allocation of income, expenses and member funds.
- Assists in preparing year-end audit working files and liaises with auditors during the year end process.
- Assists in developing and producing reconciliation, analytical and statistical reports as required.
- Assists in the preparation of annual budgets.
- Performs other duties related to accounting functions.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

#### BENEFITS COORDINATOR

- Maintains insurance records for Members.
- Provides Membership with all information regarding regular benefit programs, plans, and options.
- Enters payroll diskettes and verifies cheque receipts.
- Receives all deposits relating to productions, provides breakdown between I & R and Union revenues.
- Prepares and administers all paperwork relating to Insurance & Retirement.
- Maintains computer tracking system for Membership benefits as well as work permits and dues; ensures accuracy.
- Prepares reports as required for transfer payments, month end financial information, yearend insurance, year-end financial, etc.
- Maintains Membership records and filing system.
- Reconciles and prepares annual statements relating to Dues and Insurance coverage.
- Prepares periodic information to Members relating to benefits and/or status.
- Performs other related duties as directed.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Attends and assists in Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

# **OFFICE COORDINATOR**

- Provides assistance to the Executive Director or President, as required.
- Provides administrative support to Management and Executive Board, as required.
- Maintains filing system for Executive Director, excluding all confidential Unifor matters.
- Ensures confidentiality of information and documentation.
- Responsible for minute-taking and record-keeping of Membership, E-Board and F&A Committee meeting minutes.
- Processes correspondence and other related typing/materials for the Executive Director,
   President and Executive Board, as directed.
- Plans and coordinates all Membership meetings, creates, schedules and attends other committee meetings.
- Organizes travel arrangements and functions.
- Assists with planning and organizing of union/member/industry events, as directed by Executive Director or President.
- Creates meeting agendas, forms, notices, correspondence and mailing.
- Responsible for sponsorship, donation and advertisement requests.
- Assists with circulation of inter-branch and National information, as required.
- Day to day office operations.
- Day to day IT operations.
- Responsible for coordinating resolution of all building concerns with landlord.
- Oversees and maintains other building contracts.
- Organizes and assists in mail outs.
- Performs other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to Employer.

### **MEMBER SERVICES ADMINISTRATOR**

- Receives calls and visits from membership applicants, evaluates qualifications, communicates criteria and arranges completion of Membership Applications.
- Processes applications and initiations including receipt of payments.
- Signs up new and renewing Members and Apprentice Members, consistent with UBCP/ACTRA policy.
- Hands out appropriate documentation, including the UBCP/ACTRA Benefits material, UBCP/ACTRA By-Laws, ACTRA Constitution and By-laws, and orientation material.
- Process withdrawal, suspension and resignation of members.
- Responds to Membership inquiries.
- Generates Membership cards and Membership lists.
- Provides personal work histories to individual Members on request.
- Processes dues, penalties and past due collections and related transactions and inquiries.
- Processes and verifies all work permit refunds.
- Processes all dues notices and payments and assists in issuance of tax receipts.
- Provides payroll companies with up to date membership list on a weekly basis.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reception relief as required.
- Reports to Employer.

#### ASSISTANT STEWARD - FILM & TELEVISION

Provides assistance to the Union Representatives with respect to film and television production as follows:

- Maintains records regarding film and television production.
- Organizes production boxes/files and compiling all production information, contracts and remittance statements for each production; updating information of same; other filing and record keeping as required.
- Verifies performer contracts comply with agreements and verifies status of membership.
- Verifies all remittances are in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreements, i.e. performer's fees, administration fees, work permit fees, etc.
- Compiles basic data for statistical review.
- Addresses inquiries regarding interpretation of various Union agreements from production accounting departments and payroll services.
- Handles inquiries from members and non-members.
- Photocopies as required.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

#### ASSISTANT STEWARD - COMMERCIAL DEPARTMENT

- Provides assistance to the Union Representatives Commercial with respect to commercials.
- Maintains records regarding commercial productions.
- Organizes production boxes/files and compiling all production information, contracts and remittance statements for each commercial; updating information of same; other filing and record keeping as required.
- Verifies performer contracts comply with agreements and verifies status of membership.
- Verifies all remittances are in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreements, i.e. performer fees, administration fees, contract service fees, work permit fees, etc.
- Addresses inquiries regarding interpretation of various Union agreements from production accounting departments and payroll services.
- Process and issues all work permits; once remittances have been received; mailing completed permits to performers, along with apprentice membership information.
- Processes all payments in Commercial Department.
- Prepares all Commercial banking.
- Responsible for all data entry i.e. working dues, non-member fees and contract service fees entry into the computer system.
- Responsible for all payments to be released to the agents and performers.
- Addresses inquiries regarding payments and non-member fees.
- Photocopies as required.
- Assists in mail outs as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

#### ASSISTANT STEWARD - RESIDUALS AND USE FEES

Working closely with the Administrator(s) in the Distribution department, the Assistant Steward will take performers' information from each show and review all performer contracts and payroll remittances in order to determine accurate unit calculations for the purpose of Use Fee payments. Provide assistance with departmental filing, photocopying and the organization of production files to locate or review records for use fee payments.

This review will include but will not be limited to the following:

- 1. Applicability of performer GST #.
- 2. Company names.
- 3. Performer category.
- Assessment and detailed review of production payroll to ensure that the payment, performer category and days worked are accurate for both UBCP/ACTRA and SAG or AFTRA contracted performers.
- Review of payroll to ensure that categories such as Stunt Coordinators, Riggers have not been included in residual bearing categories.
- That Performers who have been upgraded have the correct calculated gross pay.
- That if SAG or AFTRA performers worked on the productions, that the days worked are calculated.
- If the production is a Series, that the episode number is noted to ensure that each episode is captured as a single production for the purpose of calculating units.
- This position requires a highly detailed individual who has a background or familiarity with payroll and remittance review. You will have a sound understanding of Excel spreadsheets and reporting functions and demonstrate ease with numbers and formulas.
- Along with assessing Use Fee payments and providing unit calculations for productions, you will be responsible for tracking and locating performers who have not collected Use Fee payments through "Is This Your Money?" In an effort to identify missing performers, you will make use of a variety of resources available online such as IMDB Pro and Superpages.
- As actual demonstrated use of programming forms a critical part of the requirement to pay Use Fees to the Union, you will use your researching initiatives to investigate sources that can confirm broadcast or other media use of programs.
- You will provide assistance in the mailing out of Residual cheques and general Union mail outs; attend membership meetings as required and may be asked to perform other duties which may be assigned to you from time to time by the Employer.

### ASSISTANT STEWARD / WAIVER ADMINISTRATOR - FILM & TELEVISION

Provides assistance to the Union Representatives with respect to film and television production as follows:

- Maintains records regarding film and television production.
- Organizes production boxes/files and compiling all production information, contracts and remittance statements for each production; updating information of same; other filing and record keeping as required.
- Verifies performer contracts comply with agreements and verifies status of membership.
- Verifies all remittances are in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreements, i.e. performer's fees, administration fees, work permit fees, etc.
- Compiles basic data for statistical review.
- Addresses inquiries regarding interpretation of various Union agreements from production accounting departments and payroll services.
- Handles inquiries from members and non-members.
- Waiver Administration.
- Order and organize film and television forms/agreements.
- Record retention: data entry and organize box storage.
- General administration for department: sort faxes, set up new shows in MFTS, maintain fax lists, file Collective Bargaining records, take notes at departmental meetings, assist staff when needed.
- Update talent agency, background performers and production lists.
- Photocopies as required.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

#### Assistant Steward - Finance

Under the direction of the Director of Finance:

- Performs general ledger account analyses and reconciliations as required.
- Performs all bank reconciliations monthly.
- Re-issues all stale-dated NKA cheques as required.
- Balances the monthly investment account statements.
- Liaises with the FTV and Commercials Assistant Stewards on payroll loading errors.
- Residuals postings and verifications for all Canadian and US bank accounts.
- Deposits all e-transfers on a daily basis.
- Assists in preparing year-end audit working files and liaison during process with auditors.
- Assists in developing and producing accounting reports.
- Performs other duties related to accounting support functions.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings, if required in the rotation.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

#### ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT

- Assists in planning and coordinating all Membership Meetings, Member events, and Executive/Trustee Meetings.
- Processes correspondence and other related typing/materials for the Executive Board, Trustees, and others as directed.
- Arranges business travel and events/bookings for Staff and the Executive Board.
- Conducts computer work including word processing of correspondence, mailings, meeting agendas and minutes, forms, and notices.
- Maintains filing systems.
- Reception relief as required.
- Performs other clerical duties as directed.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Attend Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Data Entry.
- Reports to Employer

#### RECEPTIONIST

- Maintains "First impression" responsibility to represent the Union well to Members, visitors, and callers.
- Conducts general reception including greeting Members and visitors pleasantly and professionally, politely elicit reasons for the visit, directing people courteously to appropriate personnel, and providing general information of disseminating material about the Union to those seeking orientation.
- Answers telephone and handles switchboard including Union identification and greeting, transferring calls, paging personnel, taking messages, and keeping a high call volume processed properly and efficiently.
- Answers inquiries regarding membership enrolment, i.e. eligibility, qualifications, rationale, and procedures.
- Distributes daily mail and incoming faxes and courier requirements.
- Ordering, maintaining and stocking of all Branch supplies, including all forms required from the National office.
- Collecting Membership dues when Membership is not available.
- Ensuring all informational forms provided by the Union are up-to-date and are available to the membership.
- Distribution of Benefits forms to incoming Members.
- Responsible for the booking of all meetings in the Boardrooms and lounge.
- Assists members to sign up for committees, meetings, and courses.
- Helping casting agents, talent agents and payroll companies with Membership numbers and agent's information regarding Members.
- Faxes, upon request, to members and the general public, talent agent's list, Apprentice Membership Program information and film production list.
- Responsible for maintaining a clean and professional appearance of reception area.
- Assists in mail outs as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to Employer.

#### **OFFICE ASSISTANT**

- Maintains filing systems for all departments, including records retention responsibilities.
- Filing for all departments.
- Reception relief.
- Responsible for inventory of office supplies and business machine supplies.
- Responsible for maintaining inventory of UBCP/ACTRA merchandise.
- Responsible for performing checks on the state of meeting rooms includes tidying up meeting rooms, helping to set up, reconstruct, and dismantle meeting rooms.
- Clean up meeting rooms before and after meetings.
- Set up projector equipment, speakers, microphones, and other related meeting room equipment.
- Responsible for ordering kitchen supplies.
- Responsible for ensuring adequate postage in the postage machine.
- Sorts and distributes incoming faxes.
- Review supplies and advised Receptionist on orders required.
- Checks for paper supplies for copiers and adds as needed.
- Conducts computer work including work processing of correspondence, mailings, meeting agendas and minutes, forms and notices.
- Photocopies maintenance ensure adequate toner supply on hand, return used toner, liaise with Copier Maintenance Company.
- Upon request, order supplies as per instructions.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Performs other clerical duties as directed.
- Assists in mail outs, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to the Employer.

### **OFFICE SUPPORT**

General assistance to all staff including but not limited to, the following:

- Assists in maintaining the general files.
- Prepares all documentation in preparation of mail outs and membership meetings.
- Switchboard relief during lunch hours and meetings.
- Photocopy as required.
- Assists in mail outs as required.
- Attends Membership Meetings, as required.
- Other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Employer.
- Reports to Employer.

# **APPENDIX C - EXCLUDED POSITIONS**

- President
- Vice-President
- Treasurer
- Secretary
- Executive Board Member
- Executive Director
- Director of Finance
- Director of Contracts
- Director of Member Services and Communications
- Human Resources
- Legal Counsel
- Administrative Assistant Management

### RE: SECTION 104

In the event that Section 104 of the Labour Relations Code is amended or deleted during the life of this Collective Agreement, the parties agree to meet to develop language establishing an expedited arbitration process.

# RE: SERVICES AVAILABLE FOR CONTRACTING OUT

Notwithstanding Clause 4.05, the Union agrees that the Employer may contract out the following work:

- Phone Trees
- Mail outs
- Printing
- Mass Photocopying (Where possible, the Employer will make "best efforts" to engage a Union supplier)
- Reception Coverage: The Employer may engage the services of an outside Temporary Personnel Agency for up to five (5) consecutive days only. The intent is not to use the Agency for vacation coverage or for other types of leaves that can be reasonably foreseen.
- Chief Negotiator and/or President to lead Collective Bargaining

With regards to collective bargaining, it is agreed between the Parties that where the Employer requires technical support, it will fall within the terms of the Collective Agreement.

# RE: HEALTH SPENDING ACCOUNT ("HSA")

A Health Spending Account ("HSA") is the individual employee account provided by your Employer that provides reimbursement for health and dental related expenses not covered under the provincial health plan or your employee benefit plan(s). During our recent round of bargaining this account was referred to as a "Flexible Benefit Credit". UBCP/ACTRA will deposit an amount in your account at the beginning of each Benefit Year (April 1st) which can be spent on eligible expenses incurred during that Policy Year. This negotiated amount is one thousand dollars (\$1000.00).

All staff members retain the option of "opting in" or "opting out" of the one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) HSA program. However, the election to "opt out", must be made prior to the commencement of each Benefit Year as explained below. Staff members who "opt out" of the program will be entitled to receive the one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) as a taxable payment to which all applicable deductions will apply.

AFBS administers your Health Spending Account as the Insurer for the UBCP/ACTRA Staff Benefits Program.

#### WHAT ARE THE ADVANTAGES OF AN HSA?

Amounts deposited by your Employer into your HSA are not taxable. Amounts paid from the HSA are not taxable benefits. You also have the option to apply these monies where they will be of greatest benefit to you.

#### WHEN DOES COVERAGE BEGIN?

UBCP/ACTRA staff has access to the HSA effective October 1, 2006 provided that any probationary waiting period for benefits, as set out by UBCP/ACTRA, has been completed. No special HSA enrollment form is required.

### WHAT TYPES OF EXPENSES CAN BE CLAIMED?

The types of expenses that can be claimed are defined by Canada Revenue Agency – generally those that are tax deductible and are listed in the Income Tax Act. The following are some of the expenses that can be claimed:

- deductibles and coinsurances
- professional services
- dental care
- claims for expenses which are in excess of the limits provided for in your UBCP/ACTRA Staff Benefits Program
- · facilities and services
- medical equipment and devices.

### Collective Agreement between UBCP/ACTRA and Unifor Local 3000

Many eligible expenses must be prescribed by a medical practitioner and are often medically required.

Expenses must have been incurred by you or one of your eligible dependents. It is your responsibility to ensure that any dependents for whom a claim is submitted qualify under the CRA Health Spending Account rules.

Expenses must be submitted to any benefit plan(s) where you or your dependents may be insured. For example, your eligible claims must first be submitted to the UBCP/ACTRA Staff Benefits Program. Then, if you are insured as a dependent under a spouse/partner's program a claim would need to be made to that program before any submission of an HSA claim.

Expenses must be incurred while your HSA is in effect.

WHERE CAN I OBTAIN A COMPLETE LIST OF ELIGIBLE AND NON-ELIGIBLE EXPENSES?

The Canada Revenue Agency defines the expenses that can be paid from your HSA. Please note that these expenses can change at any time.

For a complete listing of current eligible services and expenses, please access the Canada Revenue Agency at <a href="http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/tx/ndvdls/tpcs/ncm-tx/rtrn/cmpltng/ddctns/lns300-350/330/llwbl-eng.html">www.cra-arc.gc.ca/tx/ndvdls/tpcs/ncm-tx/rtrn/cmpltng/ddctns/lns300-350/330/llwbl-eng.html</a>.

### WHAT CANNOT BE CLAIMED FROM THE HSA?

Generally, expenses not recognized as an eligible deduction for income tax purposes will not be covered.

The following are examples of expenses not eligible for reimbursement from your HSA:

- premiums paid to provincial medical or hospitalization plans
- medical costs for which you will be or are entitled to be reimbursed
- air conditioners, humidifiers, dehumidifiers, heat pumps or heat or air exchangers
- non-prescription drugs

# WHAT HAPPENS IF I DO NOT SPEND ALL THE MONEY IN MY ACCOUNT?

Your HSA is funded on a Benefit Year basis (from April 1st to March 31st). Any funds left in your account at the end of each Benefit Year will be forfeited.

WHAT HAPPENS IF I DO NOT SUBMIT MY EXPENSES IN THE YEAR DURING WHICH THEY WERE INCURRED?

Since your HSA is provided on a Benefit Year basis, claims cannot be carried forward to the next Benefit Year. Therefore, all expenses incurred during the Benefit Year must be submitted within ninety (90) days following the end of the Benefit Year (each March 31<sup>st</sup>) in order to be eligible for reimbursement from your HSA.

### HOW DO I SUBMIT A CLAIM?

It is your responsibility to check the CRA website to ensure that the expense which you are claiming is covered under the CRA Health Spending Account rules. Your claim for reimbursement under your Health Spending Account must be completed in full, and include the following documentation:

#### EXPENSE RECEIPT:

- Original receipt(s) for the eligible expense with sufficient detail to clearly identify the nature of the service plus any medical recommendations that may be required; or
- The explanation of benefits issued by AFBS; or
- The explanation of benefits issued by another insurer including copies of the receipts submitted to that insurer.

#### COMPLETED FORM:

- Your HSA Claim Form (either the HSA Reimbursement Form or the CRA Claim Form) must be fully completed and signed by you.
- Claims which are for expenses not normally covered under your UBCP/ACTRA staff benefits program must be authorized for payment by UBCP/ACTRA Management.
- Claims which are for dependants who are not insured under your UBCP/ACTRA staff benefits program must be authorized for payment by UBCP/ACTRA Management.
- Your HSA Claim Form must be completed and signed, and authorized for payment by UBCP/ACTRA Management.

Along with your form, please include originals of the receipt(s) for the eligible expense with sufficient detail to clearly identify the nature of the service in the event that this is a first-time expense or valid copies of a previous submission if you are submitting a claim for additional expenses which are in excess of the limits provided under the UBCP/ACTRA Staff Benefits program.

### RE: REMOVE AGE 65 BENEFIT LIMIT

Agreed as follows:

- (a) No age limit on medical/dental coverage for any full-time regular employee.
- (b) Short Term Disability is not offered after age 65.
- (c) Long Term Disability is not offered after age 65.
- (d) For anyone on Long Term Disability:
  - Medical/dental coverage ends at age 65 or with cessation of disability payments, unless the employee returns to full-time work
- (e) Dependent Life insurance coverage ends at 65.
- (f) Basic Life Insurance:
  - 50% reduction at ages 66-69
  - \$10,000 flat benefit at age 70 and over

### RE: EMPLOYER PAID PARKING

Despite any other provision of this Collective Agreement, Zena Billey and Alison Stewart, who had their parking spots in 2015 red circled, shall continue to receive Employer paid parking. The provision of these spots is a taxable benefit.

### RE: ARTICLE 32.02 - INSURANCE PLAN

The Employer and the Union agree to form a joint benefits committee to review the coverage under the current plan and negotiate modifications to the staff insurance benefits handbook at the request of Unifor, subject to the coverage being available and with no significant increase in costs to the Employer.